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--- On commencing at 12:05 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good afternoon, everyone.  This is a continuation of EB-2012-0277, which is Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.'s application for a rate adjustment pursuant to its incentive rate mechanism plan for 2012.

We have had two panels of the company and we'll continue with the third panel and concluding panel, I think, Mr. Cass.  I think that was my mistake.  I thought that the previous panel was going to do double duty, but this panel, in fact, is going to do double duty.

There are two matters I think for this afternoon, substantively.  One relates to the USGAAP conversion, and the other relates to cross bore maintenance.

It's the Board's strong hope we'll be able to conclude this case this afternoon on a conventional hearing day.  We'll ask the parties to focus their questions and make sure that we do everything we can to achieve that goal.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I have one small preliminary matter.  It relates to yesterday's transcript.  No attempt has been made to pick up all typographical errors in the transcript.  However, there is one that is a number that was taken down incorrectly.  So for the record, I thought it would be appropriate to correct it.

It's at page 96 of yesterday's transcript.  At line 4 of that page, there's a reference to $30 million per year as the annual service cost for pensions.  It was -- it should be 13 million.  It just was taken down as 30.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  With that, Mr. Chair, I could introduce -- I'm sorry.  Mr. Culbert is just pointing out this panel is not the cross bore panel.  There will be this panel, and then yet another one for cross bore.

Mr. Culbert himself is on all panels.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would be the expert on the constitution of the panels.

MR. CASS:  Yes, he is.  I'll quickly introduce the new members of the panel, the people who are new on this panel and have not previously testified in this hearing.  To Mr. Culbert's left is Barry Yuzwa, director finance and control.  To Mr. Culbert's right is John Jozsa, assistant controller.

The two of you will need to be sworn or affirmed.  
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 3


Kevin Culbert, Previously Sworn

John Jozsa, Sworn

Barry Yuzwa, Sworn

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, there is an administrative detail I would like to deal with now which has to do with the materials you filed yesterday on the Z factor examination-in-chief materials, and there are two other segments.  One is deferral account 2012 TIACDA examination-in-chief materials, and then a further set of materials related to the cross bore Z factor request.  These should be given an exhibit number.

MS. SEBALJ:  I agree, and thank you for reminding me.  We'll mark the pension funding examination-in-chief as K2.1, the examination-in-chief regarding the TIACDA deferral account as K2.2, and the examination-in-chief of witness panel re cross bore Z factor request as K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  PENSION FUNDING EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF MATERIALS.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF MATERIALS REGARDING THE TIACDA DEFERRAL ACCOUNT.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF MATERIALS FOR WITNESS PANEL RE CROSS BORE Z FACTOR REQUEST.
Examination by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  Panel, to begin with, can you confirm that the evidence with respect to the transition impact of accounting changes deferral account, including answers to interrogatories, was prepared by you or under your direction and control? 

MR. JOZSA:  Confirmed.

MR. CASS:  Are there any corrections or updates that need to be made to that evidence?

MR. JOZSA:  Perhaps I can give a minor update.  Board Staff interrogatory number 14, Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 14, page 2 of 3, response (b), in the response we refer to the regulatory offset being approximately $83 million after converting it to a USGAAP basis.


The actual number is $83,936,000.  So in all future correspondence, I will be referring to it at the rounded-up version at $84 million as opposed to $83 million.

And the other update that I would like to provide is again to schedule 14, attachment A, appendix 1, where we had presented a draft representation of the estimated impacts of converting our 2011 financial statements from a CGAAP basis to a USGAAP basis.

As I indicated, these are draft and they continue to be draft.  We do not expect to finalize this analysis until March.  However, when we do file our 2003 evidence, we will be filing the most updated analysis that we have.

At this point, there is nothing in that update which would change the basis of the issue that we're discussing today.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Subject to those updates and corrections, is the evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. JOZSA:  Yes.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  We will turn, then, to Exhibit K2.2.  I wonder if you could start by explaining for the Board, please, the intent of Enbridge's request in respect of the proposed account.

MR. YUZWA:  Certainly.  As a result of the mandatory transition off Canadian generally accepted accounting principles effective January the 1st, 2012, and in accordance with the comments in the addendum to the Board's report on IFRS, Enbridge is seeking a transition impact of accounting changes deferral account, or TIACDA.

We're not looking to recover any amounts associated with that deferral account in 2012, just the establishment of the disposition of which to come as part of the 2013 rate case.

The reason that we are bringing this forward now is to match the set-up of the deferral with the period that we are required to transition off of Canadian Accepted Accounting Principles.

As a result of that, we would like it to be part of the 2012 hearing and to be disposed of in the 2012 rate case, I guess.

MR. CASS:  Then what is the purpose of the proposed account?

MR. YUZWA:  The purpose of the proposed account is to record the accounting impacts as a result of our mandatory transition from CGAAP, or Canadian Generally Accounting Principles, which occurs January the 1st, 2012.

As Mr. Josza brought forward earlier, although our analysis of the impacts of USGAAP is not completed, we are continuing that analysis, but at this point in time we have only identified one significant impact, and this relates to other post-employment benefits, or OPEBs.

MR. CASS: Can you explain what OPEBs are?

MR. JOZSA:  Generally speaking, OPEB, from a balance sheet perspective, refers to the liability that a company has with respect to future payments to be made to either retired employees or future retired employees.

Unlike pensions, there is no standalone plan or trust in order to hold the funds associated with these future payments.  These future payments relate to such things as dental plans, medical plans, life insurance coverage, and contributions to health-spending accounts, although I would suggest that the amounts in the medical -- medical and dental coverage would probably represent 90 percent of Enbridge's payments with respect to OPEBs.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  How are OPEBs treated for accounting purposes?

MR. JOZSA:  This has been a bit of an evolution over history, but up until the year 2000, OPEBs were accounted for on a cash basis, and what that means is the annual amount that an employer would have to pay for OPEBs was the amount that the company would expense on its income statement.

Accrual accounting was not adopted in Canada until the year 2000, although as we'll discuss shortly, rate-regulated utilities did have the opportunity to use an exemption in order to defer that conversion to accrual accounting.  And when I refer to accrual accounting, basically what accrual accounting does is it's an attempt to match the future cost of these OPEBs to the period in which the employees provide the services.

MR. CASS:  How is the OPEB accrual expense calculated?

MR. JOZSA:  Well, the expense is not equal to the cash expense.  Like I indicated earlier, the expense is an estimate of the current period cost associated with that future cost.  It involves a number of assumptions and calculations, so what companies do is they hire actuaries in order to provide the calculation of what the present value of that future obligation is and what the current expense is on an accrual basis.  Some of the assumptions will be future drug costs, future medical costs, mortality rates, that sort of thing.  And then the actuaries take all these assumptions and calculate an obligation, present-value it, and under the accrual method there's various comment components.  There's the current service portion, which really is the estimate of the value of the expense associated with the current year's services provided by the employees.  There's also an interest element, because we are discounting an amount, which is to be paid much in the future.  There's also the actuarial gains or losses which go into that calculation, and basically that's any sort of changes in any of the estimates that the actuaries used.  And finally there's the amortization of the transitional obligation, which, for Canadian GAAP purposes anyway, was an element of expense under the accrual method.  But as we'll mention later on, this is no longer an element in the calculation of the accrual expense for USGAAP purposes.

MR. CASS:  How has Enbridge Gas Distribution dealt with OPEBs?

MR. JOZSA:  Well, traditionally Enbridge did account for OPEBs on a cash basis, consistent with how OPEBs were collected in rates.  As indicated before, the cash basis of accounting was acceptable in Canada until the year 2000.  However, rate-regulated utilities did have an exemption available to them, where they were able to continue to use the cash basis of accounting until the end of the 2008 fiscal year.

However, commencing with the end -- or Enbridge's 2001 fiscal period onwards, Enbridge did disclose in its financial statements what the OPEB liability was, as well as what the accrual expense would be.

MR. CASS:  What did Enbridge do at the end of 2008 when the accounting change occurred?

MR. JOZSA:  2009 was the last year in which original – sorry, 2008 was the last year in which Enbridge could utilize the cash basis of accounting.  And the reason for that is that the Canadian accounting standards removed the exemption that was available to rate-regulated utilities.  So commencing in 2009, Enbridge had to convert to the accrual method of accounting for OPEBs.

However, Enbridge and other rate-regulated utilities in Canada were able to recognize a regulatory offset under the conceptual framework of Canadian accounting standards.  And by setting up this regulatory offset, the net effect on the income tax statement, at least, was that the OPEB expense was still on the cash basis, even though there was that initial setting up on the accrual basis.

This regulatory offset that I'm referring to was not a prescribed regulatory account which was prescribed or set up by the Ontario Energy Board, but rather it was a –- it was an account set up because future rates would entitle Enbridge to collect these amounts, or at least it was probable that these amounts would be collected in the future, therefore it qualified as an asset under Canadian accounting standards, and Enbridge hence was able to recognize that asset.

MR. CASS:  And what is the effect of Enbridge Gas Distribution's transition away from Canadian GAAP?

MR. JOZSA:  There's a couple of main impacts as a result of Enbridge no longer being able to use Canadian GAAP.

First of all, Enbridge must retrospectively restate its results in accordance with USGAAP.  And what's happened as a result of that is that Enbridge must now restate its OPEB liability that was currently on its financial statements in CGAAP and convert that to the OPEB liability calculated in accordance with USGAAP.

And the other impact is that Enbridge would have to remove the regulatory offset which was recorded in 2009, or at least what the balance was upon that retrospective restatement.

So those two impacts are the most significant as a result of EGD's transition away from CGAAP.

MR. CASS:  Then finally, what does Enbridge propose to record in the TIACDA?


MR. JOZSA:  The main item is the cumulative accounting differences between Canadian GAAP and USGAAP as at the end of 2010, and this is the $84 million that I'd referred to earlier.

And the other elements are the difference between cash and accrual method for each 2011 and 2012 periods, and those are estimated to be $3 million in each of those two years.

MR. CASS:  That is the examination-in-chief of the panel, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Have intervenors established an order?

Just a note to intervenors and their questioning.  The Board notes this is an application for the establishment of a deferral account, and not an application for the disposition of a deferral account.

So the focus should be on the criteria or factors that the Board should be considering in establishing a deferral account, rather than issues related to the disposition of the account, which would properly fall into the 2013 application.  That's when you intend to make an application for the disposition; is that right, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, that is right, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So unless there is comment about that, just as a kind of guide to parties in their cross-examination.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  My cross-examination is actually focused on whether there's any possibility that any of this amount would be recoverable from ratepayers.  And I had understood that that was one of the criteria for setting up a deferral account, so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is one of the criteria, that if there is a very low likelihood that the monies reflected in a deferral account would actually be disposed of.  That is a legitimate concern as to whether you would set up a deferral account.

But that's exactly the kind of thinking that we need to have from our cross-examination point of view.  This is about the establishment of the account, not disposition of the account.  Mr. Brett?

Cross-Examination by MR. Brett

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Panel.

Just on that note, I just wanted to clarify, Mr. Yuzwa, when you were asked about what you were -- how this position would be handled, did you say in 2013?  I thought I heard you say 2012.

MR. YUZWA:  For clarification, we are asking for the establishment of the deferral account for 2012, the disposition of which would be included in the 2013 hearing.

MR. BRETT:  Fine.  Thank you.  Okay.  My cross-examination is going to follow along pretty closely with your -- the course of your evidence-in-chief that you went into today.  So I'm going to start with the pre-2000 -- or pre-2008 regime under Canadian GAAP and then move to the post 2008 regime under Canadian GAAP, and then move to the US transition to USGAAP, just to make sure we have all the steps.


And as I understand your evidence, prior to 2000, for reporting issuers -- and I take into account the utilities, regulated utilities, were able to get this extension to 2008, but prior to 2000, for normal reporting issuers, these OPEBs -- and I've got to make sure I have this right.  This is other post-employment benefits.


They were accounted for on a cash basis; correct?


MR. YUZWA:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  So you paid cash -- you paid the cash out that was required to deal with the needs in the year, in the current year, whether it was for health, dental, life insurance or contributions to these health spending accounts.  And what was recorded in your financial statement, then, would have been the same amount, the amount that was paid out in that year; correct?


MR. YUZWA:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  That's under cash accounting.  Now, the change to accrual accounting -- by the way, was that the same -- did pensions operate the same way, essentially?


MR. YUZWA:  Pre-2000?


MR. BRETT:  Pre-2000.


MR. YUZWA:  No.  As far as I'm aware, the accrual basis of accounting was the basic method, but...


MR. JOZSA:  That is correct.  There is separate standalone rules for pension accounting.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Then at 2000 -- now, is this 3461 that we're talking here that caused this change to accrual accounting for OPEBs, or was that the special one for pensions?


MR. JOZSA:  3461, you're correct.


MR. BRETT:  3461 is the one we're talking about now for OPEBs?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  When that came in, when the accounting standards folks adopted that, then you to shift to an accrual method for OPEBs?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And you were able to defer that until 2008, and then you had to -- so, in other words, in the -- when you put together -- Mr. Culbert, this may be for you, but when you put together the numbers for your base case back in 2007, prior to this IRM, the number that you would have used for OPEBs at that time would have been the most recent year, and that would have been on a cash basis.  That would have been your actual expenditures?


MR. CULBERT:  It followed the same premise that was used for each and every financial period up to that point, which was on the case basis, yes.


MR. BRETT:  And then as of, you said, 2009, you were required to start to work on an accrual basis.  And that meant, as I understand it, that -- and you touched on this just a moment ago, that -- I mean, you continued to pay the same amount -- the amount that you paid out each year was determined by the same factors as it had been previously.


But what you recorded in your financial statements was not that number.  It was that number plus some other things, and specifically it was that number, together with an appropriate allocation for the future costs that those -the future costs that you would need to pay that current group of employees as a result of their service in that year; is that right?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  So if I can de-couple contributions from the accounting expense, the two were the same up until 2000.  3461 then tried to -- rather than match the expenditure in the financial statements to the amount of cash outlay, using the basis of accounting which is matching the expense to the period the expense is incurred.


When it comes to employee service, they were trying to match the amount of future costs for post-employment benefits to the period in which that would be earned by an employee's service.


So the amount of the expense was based on the service of the employees at that point in time, recognized that separate and distinct from the contribution which was necessary to pay out the liabilities.


MR. BRETT:  Conceptually, you made a clean break between those two things?


MR. YUZWA:  With the exception of, in 2000, the standard allowed rate-regulated entities to continue on the cash basis under an exemption, whereas other entities were required to go to the accrual basis.


At the end of 2008, that exemption ended and all entities were required to go to the accrual basis of accounting.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And at that point, then, you were as -- you would be -- now prior to -- and prior to that, prior to 2008, I think you said you recorded in your financial statements a note explaining this difference, did you?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes, that's correct, starting with -- well, Enbridge's first fiscal period was September 30th, 2001 once these rules were implemented, but we did record in a note to our financial statements the value of the liability associated with OPEBs.


MR. BRETT:  You mean the cumulative liability or the actual additional amount that you would record for that year?


MR. JOZSA:  Both.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So then -- so from then on, in 2009 and 2010 and 2011 and 2012, in those four years what you recorded in your financial statements in respect of the OPEBs was based on the accrual method, and it would be a number that was larger than the cash amount paid out?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And the $3 million that you talk about being in the deferral account for the years 2011 and 2012, as I understand it, does that represent the difference between, effectively, the amount that you recorded in your financial statements for those two years with respect to the OPEB payment and what would have been the amount had you been continuing to operate on a cash basis?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, the next thing is then that you -- there were a couple of other things that you said you had to do when you were required to go off the cash basis of accounting -- well, one other thing.


Before I get into that, with respect to the actuarial calculations that are done to assess the future liability or the accrued liability for OPEB, is that calculation done each year?  In other words, what changes that amount?


I guess what changes it would be, as I try and understand this, is new employees coming in, employees dying, changes in levels of the programs, amount of benefits under the programs, changes I guess in the discount rate from time to time, or interest rates from time to time.


So this calculation is a shifting number, is it not, or I guess the question is:  How often do you get this -- how often must you do this calculation?


MR. JOZSA:  We get a report from Mercer's every year, and, you are correct, there are assumptions that do change and estimates that do change year to year.


And the discount rate that you referred to is probably the most significant factors in the changing of the valuation of that obligation every year.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  So sort of as we heard yesterday in a slightly different context, when you get into situations where there is some volatility in interest rates, this amount, this $84 million, could shift around quite markedly?


MR. YUZWA:  Potentially, along with a number of other factors.  Certainly medical costs and drug costs, et cetera, are shifting, as well.


MR. BRETT:  Do you record in your financial statement each year the essence of that recent Mercer report?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  It is essentially the annual cost of meeting the obligation as calculated using these actuarial estimates in the future.  So what is our annual cost over the expected service life expected to meet that obligation as determined under all of those assumptions, and then we record, in the current period, the period cost associated with that.


And that goes into the expense side.


MR. BRETT:  Understood.  Now, getting back to the other changes you had to make to accommodate this move to accrual accounting.  You said, and I'll just read from the -- it is easiest just to read from your summary, because it's very clear.  You say OPEB had to convert to the accrual method, which included -- we've talked about the first impact, but it also included the recording of an OPEB liability on its balance sheet.  Now, just looking at that, that liability that you have to record on your balance sheet is -- it's a liability in the sense that this -- you're saying that these will be future obligations of the company based on current assumptions, actuarial assumptions with respect to OPEBs.  That's the total future number; right?

MR. JOZSA:  It's discounted value of the future payment.  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And were you -- okay.  And that -- the way that that number is put together, we've talked about already; that's the various assumptions that are made.

Now, when the 3461 went into effect, were you given a number of years over which you could amortize that amount?

MR. JOZSA:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  What was that?

MR. JOZSA:  15 years.

MR. BRETT:  15 years from 2008?

MR. JOZSA:  No.  Starting with our 2001 physical period.

MR. BRETT:  Starting when the thing went into effect for other reporting issuers?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.  That's called the transitional obligation.

MR. BRETT:  That's the transitional obligation that we're talking about.  And am I right in, just trying to get the relationship here, and I'm not a chartered account.  But effectively what that transition, a piece of that transitional obligation that's recorded as a liability is actually -- becomes a part of each year's expense?

MR. JOZSA:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the liability goes down accordingly, then may go back up based on the calculation?

MR. JOZSA:  Looking at the amortization piece by itself, whatever the value was gets amortized equally over 15 years.

MR. BRETT:  So it goes down by one-fifteenth?

MR. JOZSA:  The unamortized balance.

MR. BRETT:  And a compensating amount is the amount that you're adding to the actual cash paid in the expense side in that year?

MR. JOZSA:  Well, the cash payment doesn't change, but the accrual expense takes into account that amortization.

MR. BRETT:  So that's how the liability is set up.

Now, so you have to obviously do something with that, as I understand it.  You say you were able to record an OPEB regulatory offset account.  Now, you were -- basically how did you do that?  Was that essentially you say:  Look, we need an offset account, because otherwise this would be have be a charge to retained earnings on the balance sheet.  And therefore it's appropriate that -- in any event, we're entitled under accounting rules to have an offsetting account for this.  This is an asset, because under accounting rules we are going to be able to collect this from the regulator -- from ratepayers?

MR. YUZWA:  Maybe I can add a little more context to that, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  I would appreciate that.

MR. YUZWA:  In 2008, the Accounting Standards Board said that it would be discontinuing Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and transitioning to IFRS.

However, there was uncertainty around what the international financial reporting standards would be and their application in Canada.  So at the same time, we lost the exemption for the ability to maintain the cash method, so at that point in time we knew we had to go to the accrual method of accounting.

And considering the uncertainty around IFRS and where we would go, we looked at maintaining consistency in terms of our reporting, and under Canadian Accepted Accounting Principles at that point in time, we were allowed the establishment of a regulatory deferral account, so we set up a regulatory deferral account to essentially make our financial statements the equivalent to the cash method, which is what we were filing under for regulatory purposes.

So we would have the same sort of income tax statement and transparency in that expense in our financial statements as we did in our regulatory statements, until such time as there was some certainty or some guidance around the application of IFRS.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I guess one -- apropos of that, this is really a question that belonged a little earlier.

When you move from -- when you were required to move from a cash basis of accounting to the accrual basis of accounting, that would increase your expense item on the income statement; correct?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And therefore reduce your -- everything else being equal -- reduce your earnings?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  So we've now got the Canadian -- I think I understand the Canadian situation.

Now, if we can look at the move to USGAAP, you talk about a voluntary transition away from Canadian –- sorry, a mandatory transition.  You can no longer use Canadian GAAP so you transfer to USGAAP, and you must retroactively restate your numbers.

Now, as I understand it, what -- USGAAP had made the same change from accrual accounting -- from cash accounting to accrual accounting as was made in Canada in 2000 by CICA 3461.  But in the United States, that change was made earlier; correct?  It was made in something like 1989?

MR. YUZWA:  I'll take your word for that.  I knew it was a long time ago.  That number rings a bell.

MR. BRETT:  This came up in an earlier proceeding, not this issue but this business of when the Americans did their change.  And I believe what -- I believe what we were told is it took place in '89, and they were given a certain number of years, reporting entities were given a certain number of years to amortize what was termed "unrecorded actuarial losses," and they were given until, I think, 2000.

Does that make sense to you?  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. JOZSA:  Subject to check.

MR. BRETT:  If I'm off by a year or two, just take that.

So effectively, then, when you adopt USGAAP, you're faced with a situation where you can no longer continue to -- as I understand it, you can no longer continue to amortize year-by-year these unrecorded -- in this case, this unrecorded liability, a portion of this unrecorded liability.  You've got to effectively crystallize it and deal with it immediately.  Is that effectively what's happened?

Maybe put another way, under USGAAP, you cannot have the regulatory asset that you have under Canadian GAAP?

MR. JOZSA:  That is true.

MR. YUZWA:  That is correct

MR. BRETT:  And the effect of that is if you lose the regulatory asset, then absent some other action that you would take, you would be faced with deducting that outstanding liability from retained earnings; is that the case?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the deferral account that you're proposing, the major part of it would be to essentially deal with this -- deal with this problem.  It would allow you to continue to -- allow you to continue to collect, over time or otherwise.  It would allow you to collect that $84 million from ratepayers in some manner.

Now, up until -- under Canadian GAAP you were entitled to recover it over 15 years, and you were in the middle of doing that.  By moving to USGAAP, you no longer have that 15 years, so you now have to put an account in place into which -- with a credit item of 84 million, and you will then seek to collect that amount in the 2013 rate case in a manner to be determined?

MR. YUZWA:  It will allow us to establish a deferral account to take effect of, whether we are transitioning to IFRS or USGAAP, transitioning away from Canadian GAAP, and -- you are correct -- deal with the issue of whether recoverability from 2013 onwards.  That's --


MR. BRETT:  So this would work either under USGAAP or IFRS.

MR. YUZWA:  Yes, correct.

MR. BRETT:  So that you are saying effectively that even if you don't get permission to move to USGAAP, you still want to have this deferral account?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  And if I could add some context to that, as well, Mr. Brett, when we adopt USGAAP, a requirement is to retrospectively -- or adopt as if you had always been on US generally accepted accounting principles.

So under that premise, you calculate the cost of post-employment benefits, or OPEBs, as if you had been on that all during that time.  As a result of our analysis to date -- and as we've said, it's not quite complete, but our analysis to date, the employees' service costs have earned them an additional $84 million in liability that the company is going to have to pay in the future.

And so whether we were on USGAAP or IFRS or any other method, those service costs are a liability from past employees' work, and, as a result, we would have to be -- we would be looking at a deferral account and the collection of that over a future period.

So that is part of the 2013, if deemed appropriate, that rate case.  Here we're just looking at the establishment of the deferral to match the period that we have to transition away from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

MR. BRETT:  I understand.  I think today we're just looking at the establishment of the account and an indication of what sums you would propose to put into the account.

The one thing you have told us that is a little -- that is extra here is that under IFRS -- in respect of this point, is the treatment the same as USGAAP?

MR. YUZWA:  It is similar.

MR. JOZSA:  There's no significant differences from USGAAP or IFRS.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, with respect to the -- just a side point, but with respect to the $3 million -- two $3 million items here that you -- the difference in cash being paid out in 2011 and 2012, if you were not making the move to USGAAP, but simply going along with Canadian GAAP and you are going to enter your rebasing next year, those amounts would -- you would not have those amounts at that stage; correct?

MR. YUZWA:  Hypothetically, that would be correct.  There is no Canadian GAAP going forward, so we don't have that option.

MR. BRETT:  No, you don't.  But put another way, perhaps, since those amounts were -- since the cash amount -- cash payment out was the basis under which the IRM was set, those two $3 million items are essentially lost to you, are they not, unless they go to this deferral account?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  It's not the going to USGAAP that triggers that, is it?  It's the fact that you went into an IRM on a different basis than you are coming out?

MR. YUZWA:  Essentially going into the IRM on the cash basis under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  But as of -- going forward, January 1st, 2012, having to transition away to either IFRS or United States GAAP, in either way, we have to go to the accrual basis of accounting without the benefit of a regulatory offset.

So as a result, yes, that amount would be lost to -- and borne by the shareholder.

MR. BRETT:  If you were going to -- if you were continuing on -- I admit it is hypothetical, but if you were continuing on under Canadian GAAP in your rebasing, presumably you would try and do something in your rebasing.  You say, Well, we are no longer on a cash basis; we're on an accrual basis.

So the new level going forward, the pension -- sorry, the OPEB base is going to be increased?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  And if the company, which -- absent the decision to transition to USGAAP, had we been required to transition to IFRS, the consultative that was held by the Board, et cetera, was looking to deal with the ramifications during an IRM term of rate-making implications of what they meant coming out of an IRM term.

So we would be looking to establish what the amounts would have been under IFRS, as well, show those to the Board in our analysis in 2013 for the Board to deal with in terms of how they felt it should be handled going forward.

Under IFRS, there are potentially a multitude of tools the Board could use - deferral accounts or whatever - to decide what they wanted to do with rate-making from that point on, and what we're looking to do is show the Board --


MR. BRETT:  If you had gone it --


MR. CULBERT:  -- exactly what those implications are.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Going back to kind of the basic question, I guess, that everybody -- well, one of the fundamental questions here is if you -- in this case, is this, in part, an out-of-period cost issue?

In other words, if you -- going back to the beginning, I guess, if you didn't get this deferral account now, are you going to be in a position where you are trying to recover out-of-period costs?  Is that your concern?

If it is, let's assume for sake of argument that I think you probably are familiar with the fact - and let me ask you, if you are not, to take it subject to check - that in the case of Union Gas, which is also moving to USGAAP, the Board -- and has filed their 2013 case.  I understand you haven't yet, or at least it hasn't gone public, but Union's has.

And the Board set up a preliminary hearing on the issue of whether Union can go to USGAAP.  And on the assumption that, everything else being equal, they would do something like that for you when you file -- they would wish to do something like that, does that -- if there is an out-of-period cost problem, does that deal with it?

In other words -- but I guess the first question is:  Is there an out-of-period cost issue here that you are trying to deal with?

MR. YUZWA:  I'm not sure that I got your interpretation of out-of-period costs.  So for an accountant, it has a specific meaning, so perhaps I can try and answer it, and you can tell me if I'm on the wrong track.

When we have to convert to a different level of accounting, whether it's IFRS or USGAAP, we have to go to the accrual method.  And the actuarial method trustees to recognize, in the period that services are earned, the costs associated with those services.

So post-employment benefits are the services earned in the period that the employees work.  So under USGAAP or IFRS, what we're doing is going back over that period of time as if we had been on that accounting historically, and saying, How would we have had to have recognized the costs that the employees have earned as a result of their service?

And then recognize that as our opening balance going forward.  Therefore, had we been in that method of accounting at that point in time, it would have been taken into account as part and parcel of the normal operations of the business, and we would have sought recovery in those past periods for those expenses.

What we didn't have was those expenses in those past periods, because we were under a different method of accounting.  So now that we're required to convert, those expenses now are required to be recognized in our financial statements as an outstanding liability that the company will have to bear in the future.  And, as a result, we're looking for a deferral to set that up, because that charge has to go through retained earnings and we have to recognize it under -- regardless of IFRS or USGAAP.

Without the regulatory offset, then it throws the capital structure of our organization out by reducing retained earnings, et cetera, and the risks associated with that.

So we're just trying to seek to put ourselves into a position of like to like.

MR. BRETT:  I understand that, I think.  But I think I may have misled you a little.  I was referring to the regulatory concept of out-of-period costs.

Is there a regulatory issue here with out-of-period costs?

MR. CULBERT:  Not to our way of thinking.  It is simply an accounting recognition versus how regulation would look at the recoverability of the same expenses.  So it is not an out-of-period expense per se.  It's a recognition of the same expenses.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, just one last thing, and I'm pretty much at the end here, Mr. Chair and Panel.

Yesterday, Mr. Culbert, you had mentioned in passing, I think in answer to one of the questions -- and I'm afraid I don't have the transcript reference, but I'll ask you about it and you can tell me if I paraphrased you correctly based on my memory of it.

I think you said -- you were asked about the question of pensions and whether or not you had -- whether or not you were going to be –- you were going to have effectively an unstated actuarial loss in the pension area on transition to USGAAP.  And I believe you said:  No, we found a way under USGAAP to continue to amortize our pension costs.

Is that -- did I paraphrase that right?

MR. CULBERT:  I don't believe quite correctly.  I think the question was from Mr. Shepherd as to whether under USGAAP, your pension accounting had to be on an accrual basis under USGAAP.

My response, I believe, was depending on what the regulator decides under USGAAP for the pension issue, if the regulator decides that we'll continue with a deferral mechanism approach, as long as that was part of the recognition that the company could continue under the cash basis.

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. CULBERT:  So it's different from OPEBs in that OPEBs do not allow this similar regulatory asset treatment unless there is specific recoverability at the time of the set-up.  If the Board chose to treat pensions on a cash basis going forward, as long as that was recognized then the company could continue on the cash basis for pension, but --


MR. BRETT:  So in other words –

MR. CULBERT: -- they cannot do so for OPEBS.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  So in other words, in OPEBs' case, the regulator has to effectively make the decision that it will allow collection over a period of years; is that right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Under pensions, the position, again, is what?  That...

MR. JOZSA:  Under pensions, there's no such criteria.  They are very prescriptive when it comes to the regulatory offset relating to OPEB, the conditions that must be met, including some of the ones that you mentioned, that the regulator has to come out and say that this amount would be collected over a period of time, which is required for OPEB.

However, under pension, under USGAAP the concept of the regulatory offset that Enbridge followed in 2009, '10 and '11, can be utilized in USGAAP, as well.

MR. BRETT:  And the Canadian regulator agrees, agrees to allow recovery; is that --


MR. JOZSA:  There is no specific requirement in the US accounting standards that there has to be explicit authorization of the recovery of those amounts in order for it to be set up as a regulatory offset.

MR. BRETT:  In other words, the accounting principle there is less rigorous than it is here?  Not required to account on an accrual basis for pensions, pension contributions?

MR. YUZWA:  I think the difference is there's prescriptive criteria for the collection or the set-up of -- sorry, for the set-up and the accounting records post-employment benefits, or OPEBs.

Under USGAAP for pensions, then it becomes more of management's assessment of the set-up and the probability of collection through its regulatory agreement.  But there isn't a specific requirement that says you have to be able to get from your regulator a collection order, essentially, that says that you can collect it over a certain period of time.

MR. BRETT:  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

Who's next?  Ms. Sebalj?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj


MS. SEBALJ:  My name is in Kristi Sebalj.  Good afternoon.  We were just trying to rejig, based on the very good questions that my friend has asked.

I'm going to start in a different place, I think, Board Staff Interrogatory 13, and in particular sub (a), sub (2).

You were asked to address the limited duration of the exemptive relief that was provided to you by the Alberta Securities Commission and the Ontario Securities Commission.

Am I correct in saying that that exemptive relief is for the years 2012 to 2014?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  You provide an answer of page 3 of 4 of the interrogatory response that I just sent you to, which essentially says that you expect to pursue a further exemption from the OSC at the end of the exemption period under IFRS guidance, and alternatively that you might register with the securities commission in the US.

Given the short period of the exemption, can you tell me at what point you'll need to decide what course of action to take if you're exemption is running out and you haven't had any of the relief that you suggest in the IR?

MR. YUZWA:  Certainly.  I think, as has been through the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, as well as the International Accounting Standards Board, there's been continued uncertainty as to the United States and IFRS converging or agreeing on a set of harmonized accounting principles.

We continue to monitor that situation, but I think the latest and greatest update at that point was that the United States will continue to work towards that, with no set timetable.  They have a number of items on their priority list for assessment, of which rate-regulated accounting is not in the top 15.  So it is our assessment at this point that it's unlikely to be harmonization in the area, if at all, before the year 2018, which is their current period of evaluation of their top 15 priority items, if I recall correctly.

So that is subject to check, but that's kind of our basis, the way we think in terms of evaluation of convergence of USGAAP with IFRS.  So obviously our exemption order is within that time frame, and we don't believe that it will be resolved by the time our exemption is over.

So we are evaluating and monitoring it and we will be putting forward a plan of action prior to the expiration of that exemption order.  The specific steps at this point in time haven't been set or formalized within the Enbridge organization or at Enbridge Gas Distribution, so I can't answer that definitely, but that's sort the context and the background in which we are evaluating the convergence of IFRS and USGAAP standards at this point.

MS. SEBALJ:  So if I can push just a little bit harder, is there any leaning towards one versus the other alternative, applying for an extension or an additional exemption versus registering with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the US?

MR. YUZWA:  We would harmonize with the Enbridge group of companies.  I have a personal preference, but I can't say that I can speak on behalf of Enbridge Inc.

I think we'd prefer the least-cost option, and obviously the exemption order, from our standpoint, has less onerous administrative and securities regulation administration associated with it.

So at this point in time, speaking on my behalf as the controller of the organization, I would like the least-cost option, and that would be an extension of the exemption order.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are you fairly confident that that would be granted, given the priority list that you've outlined?

MR. YUZWA:  I've received no information from either securities commission on a formal basis that they will do anything other than consider it.

MS. SEBALJ:  I just noted that it took about four months from the time of your application to the ASC and OSC until you were granted, and I assume that there was some prep time prior to that?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I would imagine that that would have to start fairly soon for the actual next exemption, if you were going to give yourself a sufficient window to react if the exemption wasn't granted?

MR. YUZWA:  It's on our radar screen, and I can't say what our specific steps or a time frame at this point.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  I may inadvertently go over a few of the questions that Mr. Brett has taken you through in trying to get Board Staff's understanding, and I apologize for that and I'm going to attempt not to do it.

But taking you to your examination-in-chief, the first sentence on page 3 of Exhibit K2.2 says:

"This OPEB regulatory offset account represented the cumulative historical difference in the CGAAP accounting treatment of OPEB versus the cash method."

Can you confirm that the amount that you are intending to record in the deferral account, if it's granted, as at December 31, 2012 is approximately 90 million -- is the 84 plus 3 million times two years; is that correct?

MR. YUZWA:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the 90 million represents a cumulative difference in the accrual versus the cash method that EGD currently recovers from its ratepayers from 2013 onward?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And at Exhibit I-1-16(h), which is a response to a Board Staff interrogatory, you stated that during the current IR term, Enbridge will continue to use the cash basis approach, but will be proposing to switch to the accrual basis under the new IR term beginning in 2013.

So if the Board approves your request of the accrual basis for rates in your 2013 rate application, can you explain what the $90 million means for ratepayers?

Does it mean that Enbridge will need to recover for the cumulative difference between the two methods, and, if so, how do you propose to recover it from the ratepayers, given the materiality of the amount?

MR. YUZWA:  If I may, yes.  The answer is, yes, we will be seeking to recover it, and that is covered within our 2013 application.  So our request for this proceeding is for the setup of that in a deferral, the disposition of which to be part of 2013.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I'm obviously aware of the cautions that were provided at the outset, but we're just trying to understand.  So, obviously, given the materiality of the amount, I'm just wondering if Enbridge has any proposals on the table as to how that will be disposed of, ultimately, the length of time over which -- any of that?

MR. YUZWA:  I guess that is kind of getting into the 2013 recoverability argument that we have, which we weren't really prepared at this point to talk about.

Yes, we would be seeking to recover it as part of the 2013 application, and over a reasonable time, in order to, with all other things taken into consideration, be part of our rate application.  So...

MS. SEBALJ:  If the Board doesn't approve your request in your 2013 rate application for the accrual basis on USGAAP, what -- I think you've answered this question to Mr. Brett.  You indicated the deferral account continues to exist, in your view, or continues to be needed at that point?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  The deferral account continues to be needed.  If the Board were to decline our application for a deferral account and the recoverabilities of amounts, then the charge would be borne by the company, and it would be a charge to retained earnings, which would throw, obviously, our retained earnings balance reduced by that amount, which means the shareholders absorb those costs.  And that would throw out the capital structure of the organization and the issues surrounding that.

So that's what the implication would be, a reduction in retained earnings in the capital structure of the organization by approximately $90 million.

MS. SEBALJ:  And on that, there's an answer -- Board Staff IR 14, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, you provided an attachment to that it, and it was in response to -- too far away from my mic.  I believe it was in response to part (e), where Board Staff asked you to confirm whether Enbridge has completed its analysis of differences between CGAAP and USGAAP and has identified the financial differences resulting in adjustments to retained earnings as at January 1, 2011.

And you provided -- and this was referenced in your chief, I believe, to caution us that this is not final until March, but you provided attachment A, which is -- page 3 of 4 of attachment A, and it's entitled "Appendix 1 Draft Representation, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., Canadian GAAP to USGAAP Reconciliation Balance Sheet December 31, 2010."

I'm wondering, when I look -- I looked immediately down to retained earnings, for instance, and I can see obviously a substantial difference between reported CGAAP and reported USGAAP.  But I'm not seeing the translation in the numbers resulting in 84 million.

So I'm wondering if you can just take me through it, remembering that I'm not an accountant, although I do have one sitting beside me, and explain in the numbers what you basically explained to Mr. Brett, sort of conceptually, as to how we get to the 84 million or the 90 million, as it were, that would ultimately be a charge to retained earnings?

MR. JOZSA:  The $84 million is the gross number.  Because of the difference in the tax and accounting basis of that amount, there is a future tax liability element which has to be set up.  That amount is going through the deferred income tax line.

So -- and then the retained earnings adjustment is net of the setting up of that future tax number.

MS. SEBALJ:  So I add 67 plus 5?  Is that what you are telling me to do?

MR. JOZSA:  No.  I'm saying that the 56 number presented in that schedule is on a net of tax basis.  By the way, the 56 number, that number actually should be 62.  In our subsequent revision, we will have that number as 62.  But that is presented on an after-tax basis, basically.

And I can provide you with another way of that -- of calculating that 84 on the face of our financial statements, which would make it quite evident where the $84 million is coming from.  So I'm sure you don't have it in front of you, but if you looked at our 2010 financial statements, you will note in note 3 to our financial statements that we've recorded a regulatory offset of $68 million, I believe -- $68 million in the 2010 note 3.

And if you add to that from note 17 of our financial statements the unamortized transitional obligation 16 -- so the 68 plus 16 is the $84 million that we're referring to.

MS. SEBALJ:  Just for the record, your audited financial statements are at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 17, attachment A.  Thank you for that.

Just sort of getting to this notion of whether the deferral account should be established in this rate application, I'll take you to the addendum to the report of the Board on IFRS.

Do I have copies of that somewhere?

I have three copies.  Give one to the Panel and one to the witness panel.  I should keep one.

MR. JOZSA:  We're good.

MS. SEBALJ:  Specifically page 34 states that, "Utilities that file and report" -- and, sorry, this is the second full paragraph on page 34:
"Utilities that file and report under USGAAP (or another accounting standard) should in general read references to IFRS and MIFRS in the Board report, amendments to it and this addendum, to include USGAAP or other alternate accounting standard."


And then on page 3 of the addendum, it states, the second full sentence at the top of page 3:

"The policy in this addendum applies only to regulatory accounting, regulatory reporting and rate application filings."

And Enbridge has said in its examination-in-chief that the request of a deferral account is in accordance with the comments in the addendum to the Board's report on IFRS.  Can you confirm that Enbridge is not filing and reporting on the basis of USGAAP for regulatory purposes in this current rate application?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so can you explain how Enbridge's request is in accordance with the addendum to the Board's report?

MR. CULBERT:  The addendum to the Board's report essentially looked at dealing with -- in our opinion, anyway –- the ramifications of changing to IFRS.  Later, was amended to deal with, potentially, a switch to USGAAP by pertinent companies, and wanted to ensure that the Board understood all of the accounting ramifications that would go through the financials of any company that had to transition away from Canadian gap.

So regardless of whether you were going to IFRS or USGAAP, that's what we're seeking to do, is establish an amount that will permit the company to bring forward evidence in the future proceeding to deal with a picture of what IFRS would have required the company to do, commencing in 2013 after coming ought of IRM or USGAAP.

And that's what we're looking to do in our evidence in '13, is be able to provide that evidence such that if the Board decides that it agrees with our interpretation in 2013 that USGAAP is the best alternative, that we deal with the ramifications of that in an account, and deal with the proposal we will be bringing forward for potential clearance from 2013 onwards.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think I'm getting to what Mr. Brett was referring to when he referred to out-of-period costs, and I'm willing referring to it in a regulatory context.  But is there a reason from a rate recovery point of view that this deferral account needs to be established in this current 2012 rate year, as opposed to when you come in to apply for your cost of service?

MR. CULBERT:  Initially, we felt it was the appropriate proceeding to deal with the issue, since we are looking at a 2012 issue that's occurring, whether you are transitioning to IFRS or USGAAP.  So we felt it was the appropriate place to bring it to the Board in this proceeding.

The establishment of the account, and if we were to receive guidance by the Board within the fiscal 2012 period, would allow the company to be able to report its financials on a basis such that it wouldn't require any multitude of years' comparisons of USGAAP.  So we would have one year's comparison of USGAAP, where there would be a financial reporting.  We refer to it as a...

MR. YUZWA:  Consistency.

MR. CULBERT:  Consistency issue.  So that's the major reason, is we were looking to get resolve of it in the 2012 fiscal year.

MR. YUZWA:  If I can just add to that, we also looked at the addendum to the report that said any utility that anticipates a large impact from the transition, to apply to the Board for relief.

So on a timeliness basis and a consistent time frame with our transition away from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, we wanted to bring this issue forward and have it established in the period which our transition went through.

And so it's, A, a bit of a matching, and B, as Mr. Culbert has said, then we won't have any volatility or changes as we transition.  There'll just be the one-year change, and that would make it more transparent, more comparable, rather than having a separate regulatory set of books and a separate accounting set of books.

MS. SEBALJ:  If I layer on top of that –- I'm going off script here, but if I layer on top of that the -- I mean, we are still in an IRM period.

MR. YUZWA:  Yes, we are.

MS. SEBALJ:  Normally in an IRM period, as you well know, it's a formulaic, mechanistic rate increase, and there are specific provisions in accordance with Board policy where we can go off that formula, Y-factors, Z factors and off-ramps.

And this is not being presented as any one of those, and while the notion that it's a deferral account may sort of clothe it differently so that it -- we can call it a deferral account, but at the end of the day it is essentially asking for the recovery of monies.  You ultimately will be asking for recovery of monies in the period during IRM by establishing a deferral account during IRM, instead of doing it as a Y-factor, a Z factor or some other methodology; is that correct?

MR. CULBERT:  There were specific provisions in our IRM mechanism which would have included a Z factor recovery, and we believe that this change, which is outside of management's control, would have qualified for a Z factor.

However, we were also aware that the Board constituted a consultative to try to deal with -- as a total group of regulated companies -- deal with the ramifications of having to transition to IFRS.

So we looked at it in that regard, and said:  Well, the Board is trying to deal with this on a generic basis, so for us to request a Z factor treatment of this one individual element, without fully understanding all of the impacts of transitioning to IFRS -- and in our case now, USGAAP -- we don't believe that was something the Board was hoping would occur.  They were trying to deal with everything on a consolidated basis, for lack of a better term.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you for that.  I had also prepared to sort of take you through from 1999 to present, but I think that's been done quite ably.

I did want to ask, though, for -- and you provided some clarification with respect to when accrual became accepted in Canada, CICA 3461, but that there was the option of continuing to record on a cash basis, and that was used by Enbridge through the creation of a regulatory asset.  And I know you answered this question, or at least I thought I heard an answer, but why is it that Enbridge made the decision not to go to an accrual basis at that point?

MR. YUZWA:  Are we talking about the year 2000?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MR. YUZWA:  The year 2000, generally accepted accounting principles brought in 3461 that required accrual accounting and provided exemptive relief for rate-regulated companies.  So we continued on a cash basis because the exemption was available to us.

If I was to think about it overall, I can't speak on behalf of the accounting group at that point in time, but as with all rate-making, we would be looking at consistency between our financial statements and our rate-making mechanism.  And I'm assuming that the rate decisions that were done at that point in time, taking into account the basket of issues that would go into that decision, this was one of them.

And because we had the ability to maintain consistency in our reporting and consistency and comparability between our financial statements and our rate-making, the cash basis of accounting was continued.

MS. SEBALJ:  But in order to create the regulatory asset, you effectively had to --


MR. YUZWA:  We didn't create the regulatory asset until the fiscal year 2009, when the exemption ended.  So there was no regulatory offset in 2000.  We continued on the cash basis accounting for expensing and the cash basis of accounting for regulatory expense, as well, for inclusion in rates.

2009, we set up the regulatory offset, and if I could, I believe I said to Mr. Brett that was during the uncertainty around the CICA's introduction that they were going to be transitioning away are from Canadian GAAP.

So we had the option of creating a regulatory offset to continue consistency in our accounting and our regulatory, because we were in IR that point in time, and we were under the cash basis.  So by the establishment of a regulatory offset to the accrual accounting, we were able to keep our financial statements, for external purposes, on the equivalent-to-cash basis, which allowed the comparability between our regulatory books and our financial books.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  That's an important clarification.

Was the writing not on the wall, though, from the perspective of the CICA 3461?  They provided 15 years from the 2001 fiscal period for the transitional obligation, and so was it not -- and I don't know the answer to this, but was it not clear at that point that eventually Enbridge was going to have to go to an accrual of basis accounting?

MR. YUZWA:  I can't speak to that.

MS. QUESNELLE:  On that point, Ms. Sebalj, was the transition period for all companies that were moving -- this wasn't an either/or, take the exemption or transition over 15 years.  Is it 15 years on the transitional issues for all entities going to the accrual basis?  Is that the case?

MR. JOZSA:  The 15 years was the amortization period associated with the -- associated with the expected average remaining service life of the employees at that time.  So it was amortized over a particular set of time factors that would match Enbridge's circumstances.

So it wasn't 15 for every company.  It had to be over the expected average remaining service life of the employees at that time.

MS. QUESNELLE:  Was it specific to rate-regulated companies?

MR. JOZSA:  No.  All rate-regulated companies in 2000 -- sorry, all companies in Canada had to adopt these new provisions commencing with fiscal periods starting on or after January 1st, 2000.  However, rate-regulated entities had the opportunity to use an exemption which would permit them to account in the same way in which their rates were created.

MS. QUESNELLE:  So the 15 years wasn't relating to rate-regulated.  The 15 years, though, would have matched the characteristics of Enbridge and other non-rate-regulated entities.  Have I got that right?

MR. YUZWA:  Anyone whose expected average service life of their employees covered under their OPEB plan.  So anybody that had a 15-year expected service life would be doing it over 15 years.  If it was 17 or 20 years, that's what the amortization period would be, effective that date.

MS. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thanks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would the expected remaining service life of the employees be extendible through appropriate maintenance programs?

MR. YUZWA:  We would leave that to the actuary.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the human resources department.

MR. YUZWA:  Yes, it is.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm just going to hand out a document, which I hope is not controversial.

I've just handed out is 980 regulated operations -- sorry, it's a USGAAP Financial Accounting Standards Board document, January 19th, 2012, and it's section 980.  I may not be called section 980, but I'll call it that, which has to do with post-retirement pensions and benefits.

And subject to -- I assume that this is a document that you're familiar with; is that correct?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I'm going to take you to a particular section and just ask you about it, but, first, I'll ask your counsel whether he has any objection to having this entered as an exhibit.

MR. CASS:  I have no objection, Mr. Chair.  I do observe the usual rule is 24 hours' notice of something new to be brought out in cross-examination.  But I assume the witnesses can be accommodated to the extent they need a chance to be sure they know what they are looking at.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will afford that accommodation to the extent necessary.  The 24-hour rule is an important rule, and, henceforth, we would expect the materials to be made available on that basis.

MS. SEBALJ:  Point taken.  My apologies.  Is this something you need time to review?

MR. JOZSA:  I guess it depends what the question is.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I mark it as K2.4, and then we'll take it from there?
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  SECTION 980 OF USGAAP FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD DATED JANUARY 19, 2012.

MS. SEBALJ:  I want to just direct your attention to 980-715-25-5, which is under the criteria for recognizing regulatory assets for post-retirement benefit differences.

And I'm just going to read the first part into the record.  It says:
"For a continuing post-retirement benefit plan, a rate-regulated entity shall recognize a regulatory asset for the difference between sub-topic 715-60, costs and other post-retirement benefit costs included in the entity's rates if the entity does both of following..."

And 715-60, as I understand it, is OPEB costs on an accrual basis.  Is that your understanding?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So the two things that the entity is required to do, (a) is:
"Determines that it is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the deferred cost (regulatory asset) will be recovered in rates."

And I assume that in this case, Enbridge is of the view that that is likely; is that correct?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And (b) is:
"Meets all of the following criteria..."

And I'm really only interested in the first.  It says:
"The rate-regulated entity's regulator has issued a rate order or issued a policy statement or generic order applicable to entities within the regulator's jurisdiction that allows both for the deferral of sub-topic 715-60 costs, and for the subsequent inclusion for deferred costs in the entity's rates."

I guess the question for Enbridge is whether the creation of a deferral account in this proceeding is something that Enbridge feels would satisfy this criteria.


MR. JOZSA:  That is one of the criteria that has to be met, but with respect to (b), point 1, where it says that the regulator has to issue a rate order or a policy statement or generic record applicable to allow the recovery of the deferral costs over time, essentially, I think if the OEB came out with an order recognizing that the accrual costs under USGAAP will be allowed to be deferred and, subsequently, included in our rates over time, I think that would meet that first criteria, being number (b), 1.

MS. SEBALJ:  But ultimately (b), 1 also includes "and for the subsequent inclusion of those deferred costs in the entity's rates".  So presumably there's no certainty around that until the deferral account is disposed of; is that correct?

MR. CULBERT:  There's no certainty of that until we go through the process in 13, the discovery process, review of our evidence with respect to USGAAP versus IFRS, and then if the Board opines they believe our analysis shows USGAAP is the best possible solution and allows the recovery of these amounts, then, yes, they would be allowed to be recorded in the account.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so this -- essentially, I'm trying to get to what the purpose is, from Enbridge's perspective, of establishing the deferral account, other than to track the amounts we've discussed, the total of $90 million.

But if this Panel is inclined to grant a deferral account, presumably it will be heavily caveated -- well, at least two caveats I can think of, one of which will be that there is no certainty with respect to the ultimate disposition of any balances, and the second will be that there's no certainty as to what the Board will do in 2013 in terms of the request to transition to USGAAP.

So does this deferral account, if it is granted, provide any certain at this point with respect to this regulation or to your auditors, or to whoever it is needs certainty, for the purposes of these amounts?

MR. YUZWA:  Let me just put a qualification to that.  With respect to Enbridge's transition to USGAAP, I agree that there's some issues surrounding that decision that is going to be part and parcel of the 2013 hearing.

The reason our request is in 2012, it is the year that we have to transition away from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  Whether we went to IFRS or USGAAP, we would be seeking a deferral account, because we believe these are expenses and liabilities that will be incurred by the company in the future related to service costs that the employees have earned under either set of accounting rules.

So it will be a charge to retained earnings, regardless of the method of accounting or the conceptual framework of accounting that we go forward.  Enbridge has chosen USGAAP, and that forms part of the 2013 hearing, but the reason for the set-up of the account is because in the year of transition these are liabilities that we believe to be incurred and therefore to be paid in the future, and we would like the establishment of the deferral account.


And that is separate and distinct of the decision on USGAAP.  It would be regardless of which accounting methodology we chose to go forward on.  So that's why 2012 and the recovery and disposition of the account in 2013.


So the points that you raise as it pertains to this particular accounting standard is correct, but that's not why we're asking for it in 2012.


MS. SEBALJ:  And that's fair.  I approach it from a slightly different perspective from this document, as well, from K2.4, and that is the integrity of the Board's view with respect to deferral accounts and what they're for, and I think what I'm hearing you say is that the deferral account is not required, that you're going to seek this $90 million no matter which accounting standard you transition to and whether or not the Board establishes a deferral account; is that correct?


MR. YUZWA:  I would say that's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I'm just flipping through and eliminating questions, which probably takes less time than asking them.  I'm trying to translate from accounting language to lawyer language.


The question I'm being asked to ask you is if you continued to account on a cash basis for rates -- for regulatory rate-making purposes, as opposed to financial reporting purposes, would there be a need to recover anything from ratepayers?  Regardless of whatever accounting change is required?


MR. CULBERT:  If we continue to recover from -- at what point?


MR. YUZWA:  Correct me if I'm wrong.  What you are asking for is that if we remained on the cash basis for regulatory purposes while we went to the accrual basis for accounting purposes, would we still expect to collect this amount?  The answer is yes.  The recognition in the records would be different.  It would be a pay-as-you-go for regulatory purposes, but the outstanding liability is actuarially determined.


So the amount that's outstanding at this point in time at the end of 2012, as you previously stated, will be $90 million.  We will either pay it out as we go and pay $90 million as an expense over the period of time, which at this point would be the expected average life that's included with all the actuarial assumptions, et cetera, or we include – and then we'll have a reconciliation between the outstanding liability and the expense that's carried in the financial statements to what's carried in the regulatory books.


Either way, it's a real liability that the actuary has determined that the company will have to pay in the future.  So you either pay me now or pay me later, and we'll have to reconcile the two.  For a transparency standpoint and consistency and comparability in financial, we prefer to have the two records agree.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a clarification on that point. My understanding was that the $3 million in each of the two years was directly attributable to the accrual methodology.


MR. YUZWA:  The difference between the accrual and the cash portion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that would continue to be outstanding if, in fact, you were subject to a regulatory regime that was based on a cash reporting basis?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the $3 million in each of those two years would still apply, notwithstanding that it was attributable to the accrual assessment?


MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. QUESNELLE:  Just further clarification.  That stems from the fact that the accounting requirements starting in 2010 drove the move to the accrual off the cash, and you to have backtrack to that date?


MR. YUZWA:  Well, yes.  Like, the transition away from Canadian GAAP is effective January 1st, and then we have to include -- January 1st, 2012, and we have to use two years of comparability, so that's where the 2010 period comes in.


MS. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all of Staff's questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.


Mr. Shepherd, you seem to be...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm up next.  And Mr. Chairman, I have some cross-examination materials.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think this would be K2.5.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can you give me some guidance on when you expect to take a break this afternoon?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How long do you expect to be?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Between -- 30 minutes or so.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't you finish?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Is that satisfactory?  Looking at the court reporter, is that satisfactory?


COURT REPORTER:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


So many of any questions have been asked and answered.  But I will -- I do still have a few things that I'm a little bit confused about.


Let me start with page 3 of our materials.  This is an excerpt from Board Staff Interrogatory No. 13, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 13, page 6.  And if you take a look at that page -- we just included the one page, because it's only this (c)(i) that I'm concerned with -- in the context of going to USGAAP, this talks about transition costs.


Do I understand correctly that this new account that you are proposing to set up for transition to USGAAP is not intended to capture any transition costs of this sort?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's only to deal with OPEBs; right?

MR. CULBERT:  To deal with the accounting issues pertaining to OPEBs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then the second thing, sort of preliminary thing I wanted to ask you about is on the previous page of our materials, number 2.  This is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 13, attachment A, page 4.


And I'm looking at number 21.  This is actually an excerpt from your -- the decision of the regulators, the securities regulators, with respect to your exemption.


Do you recognize this document?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And number 21 says that EI already complies with USGAAP and has done so for many years; is that right?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that presumably means that since one of their big rate-regulated components is EGD, that EGD has prepared USGAAP financial information for many years; is that right?


MR. YUZWA:  Depends upon what you mean by "financial information."  We don't prepare USGAAP financial statements, Mr. Shepherd, at the EI level.  What it is is under Canadian GAAP for a foreign private issuer whose registered shares are on the -- or under the Securities and Exchange Commission.  EI's are on the New York Stock Exchange.  You have to provide a reconciliation between USGAAP and Canadian GAAP figures in the notes to the financial statements.


As a result, Enbridge Inc. is required to furnish that note to the financial statements, and does on a consolidated basis.  So we do -- Enbridge Gas Distribution is included as part and parcel of that note because of the rate-regulated accounting provisions of this particular area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so all of the information you have on the impact of USGAAP, you already knew all of this; right?  You didn't have to look it up, because you've been doing it for years?

MR. YUZWA:  Within the materiality context of Enbridge Inc., not within the materiality context of Enbridge Gas Distribution and certainly at the level for rate-making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I wonder if you could go to page 9 of our materials, and this is the attachment, which Ms. Sebalj referred, to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, attachment A, page 3.

And if I understand you correctly, the $84 million is the $56 million we see here under the pension OPEB column, which is actually only OPEBs; right?  That column is actually only OPEBs?

MR. JOZSA:  No.  That is pension OPEB.  The retained earnings adjustment is only OPEB related, but there are some transfers between other accounts which are pension related.

But the OPEB amount that's hitting retained -- is the only item hitting retained earnings on a net of accounting tax basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was pretty sure I heard you say that the only material impact on your financial position as a result of USGAAP was OPEBs.

MR. JOZSA:  As it relates to earnings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these other things, like this $229 million under deferred amounts and other assets, is that pensions?

MR. JOZSA:  $161 million of that is pension.  That's just been transferred to the other long-term liability line below in the 153.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 161 is pensions?

MR. JOZSA:  68 is OPEB.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 68 is -- actually, we're going to come to your financial statements in a second, and that's actually on your financial statements as a deferred amount; right?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the 56 is -- it should be 62; right?

MR. JOZSA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. YUZWA:  It's been updated to 62.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It hasn't been updated on the record here.

MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.  And that's why we caveat everything as draft.  We've got ongoing analysis, so we continue to work on that.  And this is one of the true-ups, Mr. Shepherd, from the work since we've submitted this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that 62 is the after-tax amount.  If you gross it up, you get 84?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you filed this, you said if you gross up 56, you get 84.  So what's the actual number?

MR. JOZSA:  The actual number will be reflected in our next amendment, and I believe it is 62.  I don't have the updated schedule here, but I know it's not 56.  I believe it is 62.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's my problem.  If you gross up 56 and get 84, then if you gross up 62, you are not going to get 84 unless you change something else.

So I'm trying to understand.  If that number is wrong by $6 million, then it appears to me that your gross-up should be wrong by 8 or $9 million.

MR. JOZSA:  Well, the adjustment will go to the deferred income tax line, that 26.  That number will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, and that will go up by 8 or $9 million; right?

MR. JOZSA:  Mm-hm.  Whatever the change is in the retained earnings tax number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the $84 million figure you know today is wrong; right?

MR. JOZSA:  No.  It's wrong?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The evidence here says $84 million based on $56 million being close to retained earnings; right?

MR. JOZSA:  The $84 million is coming from two lines on the financial statements of our audited 2010 statements, being the $68 million deferred asset, plus the $16 million transitional asset.  That's where the $84 million is coming from.

So if you wanted to verify the 84, go to that as opposed to grossing up the retained earnings number.

MR. YUZWA:  This is the after-tax one.  So, as a result of amendments in our analysis, there's a change in the tax implication, and, therefore, the net balance has changed as the charge to retained earnings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 84 isn't the wrong number.  It's the 56 that's the wrong number, and the total of the 56 and the 26, which should be 84, it turns out that there is an error in there somewhere?

MR. YUZWA:  It's not necessarily what you're referring to as an error.  What it means is as ongoing analysis goes, there are changes in our calculations which result in a change in those numbers.  That's ongoing analysis that we previously have, which is why we have called it a draft representation at the top of the page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Just one other thing on this breakdown here.  There are some very, very big numbers under the column "pushdown accounting".  And tell me whether this is right, that those actually refer to the preferred share and debt arrangements you have with some other facilities that move taxable income around?

MR. YUZWA:  That would be in incorrect.  Under United States generally accepted accounting principles, when a company is purchased, you fair value the value of all of the assets of the purchased organization, and then you push down the value of that part of the purchase price to the subsidiary and you include that in their financial statements.  That's the push-down now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when EI was purchased --


MR. YUZWA:  No.  When EI purchased EGD, so when Enbridge Gas Distribution was purchased by Enbridge Inc.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Then the premium that was paid is pushed down into the EGD financials?

MR. YUZWA:  The fair value of the assets at Enbridge Gas Distribution over and above its book value.  It's not an excess purchase price.  What it is is we have to fair value all of the assets that are purchased, and then assign a value to that, and that becomes your account.

So over and above the book value that was on the books of Enbridge Gas Distribution was an additional amount, and that gets pushed down to the books of the subsidiary at the time of purchase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that part, while interesting, isn't probably relevant here.  All I want to know is that none of these numbers, which are big numbers, will have any impact on rates, ever?

MR. YUZWA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  I wish all questions were so simple.

Then if you could go back to page 6 of our materials, this is the same interrogatory response.  I just want to follow up on one thing here.  You said here you have a draft analysis of the differences, and of course now we know you have a final analysis; right?

MR. JOZSA:  That's incorrect.  It is not going to be finalized probably until early March, and we will ultimately release those at the end of March publicly, but we will plan on providing the most updated information that we have with our 2013 case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you say here:
"EGD will file its completed and final analysis within its 2013 rate application."

And the last I heard, that was scheduled to be filed first on January 6th, and then on January 15th.  And as I understand it, it's now next week; is that right?

MR. CULBERT:  It's imminent, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you're no longer going to file the final analysis with your application?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Shepherd, it says within its 2013 rate application.  You are putting an interpretation on those words, through you, Mr. Chair.  I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I read it as, when you file the application, the analysis will be there.  It turns out that's not true; right?

MR. CULBERT:  We will be filing an updated draft of the analysis, and we will be looking to file the completed analysis within the 2013 proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I have just one more thing, and to do this I want to go to some things you've already referred to on pages -- I'll start with page 10 of our materials, which is what you've referred to as note 3 of your 2010 Enbridge Gas Distribution consolidated financial statements; right?

This is a table from note 3; right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we see here the $68 million you've referred to as a liability; right?  Sorry?

MR. JOZSA:  That's actually an asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, that's right, because -- I'll get to that in a second.  Then next page, page 11 of our materials, which is actually note 17, I believe, of your financial statements, you see here the breakdown in the OPEB at the end of 2010.  And, actually, what it says is that the long-term liability is 71 million.

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that 71 and that 68 relate to each other; right?

MR. JOZSA:  Partially.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How do they not relate to each other?

MR. JOZSA:  $3 million relates to Enbridge's 100 percent subsidiary, St. Lawrence Gas, because these are consolidated financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So which side is the $3 million not in?

MR. JOZSA:  Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  The 68 million is a consolidated number; right?

MR. JOZSA:  The $68 million regulatory asset is all Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  I see.

MR. JOSZA:  Of the $71 million liability, 68 is Enbridge Gas Distribution, $3 million is St. Lawrence Gas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  And so in fact if you look on page 10, you see the 68, and then below, you see St. Lawrence, three?

MR. JOZSA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the 71, so they exactly match?

MR. JOZSA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand correctly, what you're doing is -- the liability exists because of accrual accounting; right?  It's not an immediate payment you have to make; it's a payment you have to make in the future; right?

MR. YUZWA:  That's the basis of accrual accounting, and the liability itself is a result of an actuarial evaluation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  The asset, the 68 million, that asset isn't actually something you have, because this is not a funded plan; right?

MR. YUZWA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the excess of the accrual accounting expenses each year over the cash expenses, cumulative; right?

MR. YUZWA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, if you look at page 11 here, you see "Employer's contribution," line 7, and "Benefits paid," three.  So in 2010, the excess was $4 million; right?

MR. JOZSA:  That's incorrect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. JOZSA:  Benefits paid of seven, of that seven, four is St. Lawrence Gas.  Three is the EGD standalone number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So employer's contributions was not seven; it was three?

MR. JOZSA:  For EGD alone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where would I do the comparison between the expense and the actual cash amount you paid?  It's in your financial statements; right?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.  We do disclose the cash basis -- sorry, the accrual expense in our financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So each year, you have an accrual expense, which is higher than what you actually paid, and the difference you account for by setting up an asset?

MR. YUZWA:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that asset has accumulated over time, and it's now 68 million as of the end of 2010?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So am I right that it's going to be in the range of around $3 million a year?  Is that the sort of rough range?

MR. JOZSA:  The cash payment for OPEBs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the difference between the two.

MR. JOZSA:  The difference between the cash expense and the USGAAP accrual expense is around $3 million a year.  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we look at the end of 2010, we can then say:  Well, that's about that 32 years, 33 years of difference; right?  So the previous 33 years, your cash expense was less than your accrued expense, and as a result you have this asset raised at $3 million?

MR. YUZWA:  It's suggested every year as a result of the outstanding liability determines what your expense is going to be, which is why we have Mercer do the evaluation.  And as we said earlier, there's a number of suppositions and assumptions that go into the actuarial evaluation of the liability that will have to be paid out in the future, and the amounts that are earned by the employees during the period.

So increased benefits, increased costs of those benefits, increased numbers of employees, all impact the current period expense.  So while your concept, Mr. Shepherd, is absolutely correct, it changes and we can't generalize that it would be the same over that 32-year period.  It changes as the expense annually occurs and the liability of the benefit package included in the Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.'s employees' total compensation package changes, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But it's true, isn't it, that that $68 million, whether it arose over 10 years or 20 years or 30 years, it all arose prior to December 31st, 2010?

MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that $68 million, I want to be clear, that's not a fund that's underfunded; it's just a book liability to represent the accumulated underpayment of your -- the accumulated excess of accrual over cash?  It's not a fund like a pension plan?

MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.  It's the difference between the expense of the benefits earned by the employees in that period, versus the amount of cash paid out to satisfy the disposition of those benefits by the employees in the same period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that's the 68 million.

The other amount is -- and of course, the three million each year in 2012 and 2012, it's the same as the 68 million?  Conceptually, it's the same; it's just two more years; right?

MR. YUZWA:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then you have another 16 million, and we see that, in fact, here in "Unamortized transitional asset obligation," right?  16 million?

That's not the same, is it?

MR. YUZWA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a calculation that is done as of the year 2000?

MR. JOZSA:  Yeah.  Originally it was done in 2000, and it's really a snapshot at that point in time.  So back in 2000, the ending 2001 balance -- forgetting a transitional obligation, all accrued liabilities, they quantity the liability -- for OPEB, they estimated to be $55 million, approximately.

At that time, they were saying:  Well, hey, $50 million relates to the setting up of these new accounting rules.  We'll let that amount be amortized for accrual purposes over time.  So let's pull that out of your liability, so Enbridge, your liability, then, in 2001 is only $5 million.  It's not 55; it's five.

So over time, the number that we've been disclosing as our liability has been net of this smoothing acceptable under Canadian accounting principles.  So with the elimination of Canadian GAAP, if you will, Enbridge then has to gross up that liability to the true amount, i.e., removing that transitional obligation.

So that's why that $16 million is being added back.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if I understand it, from 2000 onwards, you're amortizing $3.3 million a year, 50 million over 15 years?

MR. JOZSA:  Yes.  Over 15 years, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  $3.3 million?

MR. JOSZA:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's left as of the end of 2010 that hasn't been amortized yet is 16 million, five years?

MR. JOSZA:  The transitional obligation remaining, then, in 2010 is 16 million.  You're correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's what I'm trying to understand about this, is you have the other 34 million; how is that accounted for?  Have you been charging that in rates during that period?

MR. YUZWA:  I'm sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  How have you been recovering that other $3.3 million a year that you've been amortizing?

MR. YUZWA:  Are you talking about the 16.6?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm talking about -- you started with 50; right?  You got 16 left?

MR. YUZWA:  Right.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What happened to the other 34 million?

MR. JOZSA:  That amount was not charged as a period expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did it go to retained earnings?

MR. YUZWA:  No.  It goes to the regulatory.

MR. JOZSA:  The offset, yeah.

MR. YUZWA:  It's the difference between part of the –- it's part of the six million, versus three million that goes into the 68.  You have the 16 million plus the 68, so it's the difference between –- it's part of the difference between the accrual and the cash basis.

So what went into rates is the $3 million of cash, and then what goes into the accrual is the expense plus that amortization that we were allowed under the transition rules of Canadian GAAP 3461 in 2000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I admit I'm totally confused here, because I thought the 68 million was one number and the 16 million was on top of that.

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.  The 68 --


MR. YUZWA:  That's correct, yeah.  So it may be -- maybe I can just provide something very simple.  And forgive me if I'm once again trying to translate accounting speak into lawyer speak.  So I apologize if I don't get this clear.

But the expense is essentially made up, the accrual expense is essentially made up of two things.

It's the service cost in the current period that's determined through the actuarial evaluation, plus the amortization of what happened upon the transition to accrual-based accounting effective in 2000.

So there's the annual cost that's determined actuarially based on the services of the employees during that current period, plus the cumulative effect of past service costs when they changed the rules in 2000 and they said, Okay, you can take this amount and now amortize it over the estimated remaining service life of those employees covered under the plan.  For Enbridge, that was 15 years.

And so they allowed us to include that as part of our accrual expense.  So that's part of the difference between the $3 million that's cash expense, and then what goes into the regulatory deferral.

So above that, we have the two parts of the regulatory deferral, the current service part, which is part of the accrual, and the amortization of the initial amount, which is the remaining 16 million.

So when you add those two together, effective the period that we're referring to, they add up to the 84.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, in 2011 where you say the accrual amount is $3 million less than the cash amount, there's an additional 3.3 million on top of that that is really just moved from the 16 over to the 68; is that right?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.

MR. YUZWA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know that's a lawyer --


MR. YUZWA:  The translation on this side of the table was better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So finally on this, let me understand that if -- right now, you have a liability for OPEB and an asset for OPEB, and they match; yes?

MR. JOZSA:  That's correct.  For Canadian GAAP purposes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And under USGAAP -- if you don't get the deferral account, under USGAAP the asset component has to be closed to retain earnings?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you take a hit on your retained earnings?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you are proposing is, instead, to take the regulatory asset component that you already have on your books, but is not yet approved by the Board, that relates to the things prior to 2010, and you want to change that regulatory asset to an authorized regulatory asset through a deferral account; is that correct?

MR. YUZWA:  It is a regulatory asset that is set up under Canadian GAAP, and what we're asking is for that regulatory asset to be set up in rates, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As a deferral account?

MR. YUZWA:  As a deferral account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's that same regulatory asset that you have in your books, that's what you are asking to be set up as a deferral account, isn't it?

MR. JOZSA:  Once it's converted to a USGAAP number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm just checking to make sure I haven't missed anything.

Your expectation is that the actual adjustment will take place at the end of this year, but that you are presenting calculations from the date that you'll adjust it in your financial statements, as of December 31st, 2010, or I guess January 1st, 2011; right?

MR. YUZWA:  Yeah.  We're required, when we convert to USGAAP, to make our financial statements on the basis of USGAAP since -- history.  So we will be doing that, but effective for the 2012 year we have to show two years' worth of comparators, so that's our period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson?  It's now 2:10.  I think we will take a break at this stage.  How long do you expect to be?

MR. THOMPSON:  I expect to be about 20 minutes, Mr. Chairman.  It's just my own situation.  I'm trying to finish up the argument in the Union case, so I have to phone in some changes.  And so if I could go now, that would be my preference, if that's not putting too much of a burden on anybody.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm afraid we're going to have to take a short break.  We'll break for 10 minutes, come back at 20 minutes after, and continue from there.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:10 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:27 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  MR. Thompson?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson

MR. THOMPSON: Thank you, sir.  Panel, my questions, I think, will be largely in the clarification category.


Can I understand what happens if the deferral account request is denied and what happens if it's granted?  Based on what you've told others, my understanding that if the deferral account request is denied, the company is not taking that denial as any predetermination of recoverability, and that you are going to apply in the 2013 case for recoverability; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  We'll be bringing forward an analysis of, as I stated in...


MR. THOMPSON:  Conversely, if the deferral account is granted, you are not taking the granting of it as any predetermination of recoverability?  You are going to apply in the 2013 case for recoverability?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So whether it's granted or denied, it appears to be simply a matter of form; is that fair?


MR. YUZWA:  I wouldn't classify it as such.


As I said, regardless of what method of accounting that we are required to transition to, we have no choice but to transition away from Canadian GAAP, and so we're looking at a deferral account for the differences that we would have to, for future benefit payments under our OPEB plans, have to recognize under that manner of accounting.


And so, yes, we would be seeking to recover that, and so we would like to have the deferral account in the period the transition is for matching, from an accounting standpoint, but also for recognition of the fact that this outstanding amount is going to be applied for in the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe I shouldn't have used the word "form".


It's simply to -- it's a record to track differences.  That's, as far as I can see, all that you are from proposing this account for.  It's not a predetermination of entitlement, one way or the other?


MR. CULBERT:  At this point, no.  You're correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And I believe you've answered this, but if you haven't, am I correct it's not necessary to have a deferral account to track differences?  You can do that outside of the regulatory accounting sphere?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, again, I believe that's on the record, that this account is not needed to reflect any uncontrollable costs being incurred in 2012, i.e., it's not needed for any 2012 rate-making purpose?


MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, what I would like to do is just briefly cross-reference what's going on in your case compared to Union's case, which was heard last week, on this point.  And I think I understand the facts, but help me if I don't.


In Union's case, the evidence indicated that an accounting change had been made to CGAAP in 2000 that called for unamortized actuarial losses with respect to pension expenses to be recorded, and amortized for recovery over, in their case, a 17-year amortization period.


Am I correct that that's the change that you referenced in your discussion with Mr. Brett?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes, but not as it pertains to pension; as it pertains to post-employment benefits.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So in Union's case, where the scope of the account they're proposing was pension and post-employment benefits, the scope of the account you are proposing is even narrower?  It's just post-employment benefits; right?

MR. YUZWA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the account in Union's case had a specific -- was confined to that specific purpose.


Can we confine the account you are proposing in this case to an even narrower purpose, i.e., post-employment pension expenses?


MR. YUZWA:  Well, if I may, I would like not to restrict it, because our analysis for differences for transitioning away from Canadian GAAP have not been finalized, and the purpose of the account is to capture all the differences.


Based on our analysis to date, OPEB are the only difference that we have of a significant nature that we would want to capture in a deferral account.  However, we would like to leave that option open and not restrict it to an individual item, as it's part and parcel of the transition impact of changing accounting, rather than as a specific account, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I understand that.  But the only one you've identified that you can speak to today is OPEB?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, just to understand the -- the numbers.  Again, in Union's case, what they said was:  We quantified the amount that we had to amortize, and we began recovering that in rates starting in 2000 and moving forward.  So this would be the unamortized actuarial losses with respect to, in their case, pension and OPEB, but in your case, we're talking about OPEB only, as I understand it; is that right?


MR. YUZWA:  On a go-forward basis?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, in 2000, you had to quantify something?


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that was to be amortized, as I understand it in your case, over 17 years?


MR. YUZWA:  15 for us.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, 15.  My apologies.


Okay.  So you quantified something; I understand it's OPEB?


MR. YUZWA:  Mm-hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the number in 2000 was what, roughly?


MR. JOZSA:  Sorry, on an annual basis, or do you mean the --


MR. THOMPSON:  No, the amount that had to then be amortized.


MR. JOZSA:  $50 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  50 million?  And then I think Mr. Shepherd, you told Mr. Shepherd it was amortized over three million a year, roughly?


MR. JOZSA:  Over 15 years, equally.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And my question:  Was that baked into rates?


MR. JOZSA:  No.


MR. CULBERT:  No.


MR. YUZWA:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so this is what I wanted to clarify.  As that amortized amount became due in each year after 2000, you merely plugged it into the asset accounts you were accumulating things in?


MR. JOZSA:  Starting in 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I'm not clear on is what happened to the 3,000 a year between 2000 and the end of 2008.


MR. JOZSA:  It rolled through the notes to our financial statements.  There was a full reconciliation of the OPEB liability, and changes in the unamortized piece would relate to that.


MR. YUZWA:  What went into rates was the cash basis that we continued under the exemption offered in the change in accounting standard in 2000.  So as a rate-regulated entity, Enbridge Gas Distribution took the exemption and continued to put into rates what our cash basis was at that point.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the amortized amount is three million.  Is there, then, another piece over and above the amortized amount to the OPEB account?


MR. JOZSA:  Yes, there is.  There would be the current service cost, there would be the interest cost, there would be the amortization of actuarial gains and losses, and the aforementioned amortization of transitional obligation.


MR. THOMPSON:  What was that, approximately, that number approximately per year, starting in 2000 forward?  Five million, roughly, or...


MR. JOZSA:  That is the accrual expense that you are referring to?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. JOZSA:  I know in 2009 we were -- we had a $10 million -- or, sorry, $9 million Canadian GAAP accrual expense.


I don't have those numbers back in 2001, but I suggest your number is probably not out of the question.  It's probably reasonable.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in each of those years, there was a certain amount of cash being recovered in rates?


MR. YUZWA:  So I guess if I could maybe break down the composition of what you are recording, out of that nine million there's $6 million, approximately -- say two-thirds of it, subject to check -- which would pertain to the actuarial estimation of the current service costs for OPEB, plus, then, the amortization of the amount that was set up in 2000, which is about $3 million a year.  And that's what makes up the expense.

Included in that expense is what we would have put into rates, $3 million.  So our cash contribution of $3 million to pay that is recognized in that total 9 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there's an accrued number and a cash number, and the difference is being captured in this regulatory asset account each year as a move-forward?

MR. YUZWA:  Agreed.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's now at -- if we stop the clock at December 31, 2012, it's 90 million, as I understand it.  It's the 84 plus the 6 plus 16?

MR. YUZWA:  As a result of the conversion away from Canadian GAAP, and we have to do that.  In the years that you are referring to, we didn't have any of that regulatory accrual.  We rated, for financial statement purposes, from 2000 to the end of 2008 the same basis of accounting, the cash basis of accounting that we used for rate setting.

In 2009 onward, we were required to go to the accrual basis of accounting, and in that period of time is where we were also working with Board's working counsel on what the implications of transitioning away and into IFRS would be.

So during that period under Canadian GAAP we elected to put in a regulatory offset for that accrual portion, Mr. Thompson, so it left our financial statement expense of $3 million equal to our rate-making expense of the cash equivalent of 3 million.

So that's where we are.  Now as it pertains to today, we have to transition away from Canadian accounting and into another form of accounting, and that is where these deferrals that you are referring to are created, as a result of the transition effective January the 1st, 2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I've got it.  I understood you to say there was a regulatory asset account created in 2000 because you elected to continue on the cash method?

MR. YUZWA:  If I said that, I misspoke.  If we go under the current proposal of USGAAP for financial statement purposes, then effective that day, because of the retrospective application of US generally accepted accounting principles, we will have the equivalent of that set up in our financial statements at that point.

But for our statements in 2000 and our regulatory filings in 2000, there was no deferral account set up.

MR. THOMPSON:  Was there not some regulatory asset account on your statements to account for the difference between accrual and cash after 2000?

MR. JOZSA:  It started in 2009.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so you say you set that up, and so that's the first year of IRM; correct?  You set up a regulatory asset account?

MR. CULBERT:  The first year of IRM was 2008.  In 2009 -- I'm sorry, the first year of recognition of the regulatory asset.

MR. THOMPSON:  Was there -- what was the accounting standard that applied to the establishment of a regulatory asset account?

MR. JOZSA:  Section 1000 of the Chartered Accountant Handbook prescribes definitions for assets and liabilities generally accepted in the utility industry, that these types of differences do meet the criteria of an asset in this case, and it was set up as a regulatory asset in our external financial statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I ask you to undertaking to file that accounting standard, please?

MR. JOZSA:  Specifically the definition of an asset, or just the whole section?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I want -- was it like what you filed here -- what Board Staff filed as Exhibit K2.4, I thought it was?

MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  We can file that, Mr. Thompson, no problem.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And did it call for, as this one does, K2.4, the issuance of a rate order to establish a regulatory asset account?

MR. YUZWA:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  So on what basis is the account established?

MR. YUZWA:  That's the difference between Canadian GAAP and USGAAP and IFRS.  So under the conceptual framework, the definition of an asset is whether or not there is economic rights and benefits that accrue to the owner.  And under the Canadian generally accepted accounting principle, we set up a regulatory asset because of the regulatory regime that we were in.

That was generally accepted accounting process in the industry and in the regulatory industry at the time.  Under IFRS, the conceptual framework does not allow for the recognition of a regulatory asset.  It does not believe the regulator creates assets or liabilities, regardless of its rulings.

Under US generally accepted accounting principles, the rules are more closely associated with the historical Canadian GAAP ones where, as long as there are rights and benefits that accrue to the owner, then there is an asset created.

However, as USGAAP is far more prescriptive, it has specific guidelines as it pertains to post-employment benefits.  And in this case, it strictly prohibits the set-up of a regulatory asset without a rate order.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We need to give the undertaking a number.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J2.1.  So it's clear, given the distance between the number and the undertaking, you are looking for the CGAAP definition of assets and liabilities; is that correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  That authorized the establishment of the regulatory asset that's been referenced.

MR. YUZWA:  Would it be sufficient to just file CICA Handbook section 1100 -- or 1000, I mean, which is essentially the general standard itself from the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants?

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine with me.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How big is that document?

MR. YUZWA:  I think everyone that is an accountant in this room has one in their office, so we could have it available very quickly.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How big are your offices?

MR. YUZWA:  Unfortunately, they are --


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you think that's a more appropriate filing, that's fine.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO FILE CICA HANDBOOK SECTION 1000.

MR. THOMPSON:  And who determines the setting up of the regulatory asset?  Is that the auditors?

MR. JOZSA:  The auditors just give their opinion on our financial statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  You set it up and, if they are satisfied it meets the test, then it's a go; is that right?

MR. JOZSA:  I think there would be an issue if the auditors were not happy with us setting that up.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate that.  But it's subject to the auditors --


MR. YUZWA:  Yes.  The auditors would have to opine on the fairness of presentation and, as a result, sign off on the financial statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so -- all right.  Let me just leave that there.  So in your testimony, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 5, there's a statement in item 3.  This is probably for you, Mr. Culbert, I think, but it refers to the expectation that such costs would be allowed recovery or inclusion in future rates.

That is what the company relies on to establish the asset account and what the auditors look at?

MR. CULBERT:  Essentially, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's the concept that's being addressed, whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery?

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that fair?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I think that's all I have.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Anyone else who wants to ask questions?  Mr. Stevens?  Any re-direct, Mr. Cass?
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  I have one question, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

During Ms. Sebalj's examination, she had asked whether Enbridge would seek recovery of the $90 million, regardless of whether the Board approves the proposed account, and the answer was "yes".

And Mr. Thompson, during his cross-examination, pursued similar questions, that even if the account is not approved, the company would seek recovery.

Given those answers, I wonder, could you explain?  What good do you see will come from having the account approved in this case?

MR. YUZWA:  Well, as -- chime in, gentlemen.  As I tried to communicate earlier in my testimony, the amount of liability that is being sought is a result of costs determined actuarially for payments the company is going to have to make in the future.

So it's a true liability, and it's a business expense the company has incurred in the past.  Under accrual accounting, we have to recognize that amount as an expense in our financial statements.

And obviously a difference between the financial statements which we file for external reporting purposes and any difference that we would file for regulatory purposes impacts two things.  Comparability, it impacts the transparency and comparability between utilities, between ourselves.  It adds a certain administrative burden, obviously, for carrying two sets of books.

And obviously from that standpoint, we would prefer to have our financial records and our regulatory records be one and the same.

Regardless of which direction we go, we are going to be seeking that, because it's an outstanding liability the company will be paying in the future.  It's a real liability, not just an accounting one.  So it's a matter of recovery will be sought, and the deferral itself is a way of making sure that our regulatory and our financial numbers match.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  That's the re-examination.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  The panel is excused.

Now, there is a transition to a new panel.  Do you want to stand down for five minutes while we do that, or can we just do it seamlessly?

MR. CASS:  It will only take a minute, Mr. Chair, But Mr. Stevens will be taking my seat, so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon.

This panel is convened to address the issues related to the cross bore Z factor request, which include the variance account request and any cost allocation issues that arise.

The witness panel for this issue is Kevin Culbert, manager of regulatory accounting, who is already sworn, as well as Lisa Lawler, director of integrity, and Clifford Clark, program manager for safety.  And I believe neither of them have been sworn or affirmed.
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Kevin Culbert, Previously Sworn

Lisa Lawler, Sworn

Clifford Clark, Sworn
Examination by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Just for your reference, Panel, the prefiled evidence related to this topic has been filed in this proceeding as Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 6, and there's also a number of interrogatory responses addressing the cross bore issues.

With your leave, Panel, I would like to begin with a short examination-in-chief that will generally follow the outline set in Exhibit K2.3.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Starting with you, Mr. Clark, can you please briefly explain your role within the utility as it relates to this issue?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.  Until recently, I have been directly involved in the development of the sewer safety program and its implementation at Enbridge.

Last fall I moved to a new role in the utility, where I'm responsible for implementing and supporting environmental health and safety programs at Enbridge.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  By way of introduction, can you provide a brief description of what a cross bore is?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.  A cross bore is an unintended intersection of an existing utility by a second utility that can occur during construction using trenchless technologies.

This construction technique is less costly then alternatives, but it means that there's no visual confirmation of the actual path of the pipe being installed.  Cross bores occur where one pipe unintentionally damages another, compromising the integrity of either one or both of the facilities.

MR. STEVENS:  So speaking of pipes intersecting with one another, what type of cross bores are of particular interest to Enbridge?

MR. CLARK:  Well, here we're dealing with the cross bores where a natural gas main or service has intersected a sewer lateral.  Our sewer safety program is intended to reduce the risk of these intersections.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you explain, please, what is the risk that arises from these intersections or these cross bores?

MR. CLARK:  In and of itself, a cross bore and a sewer lateral is not unsafe.  So the potential danger from a natural gas line through a sewer lateral arises because those working on the sewer line may not know that there is a natural gas line in there.  In many cases, the gas line can remain in the lateral for many years without creating an issue and there's no immediate problem.

If an individual working on a sewer lateral blockage is utilizing rotating equipment or pressurized water jetting equipment to clear the blockage, and a natural gas bore is present, the line could be damaged.  If the damage breaches the line, the natural gas will follow the path of least resistance.

The gas can fill the sewer lateral, enter the building connected to the sewer lateral, or buildings connected to the sewer lateral.  If gas is not provided with a route that allows it to vent to atmosphere and there is a source of ignition such as a pilot light, a furnace, an electrical panel, an explosion and/or fire may occur.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stevens, just for the reporter's edification, this material is available on -- in Exhibit K2.3.  So just for your interest, and I'm sure Mr. Stevens will be able to give you a copy of that following, to ensure that your transcript is accurate.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Turn to you, Ms. Lawler, can you please briefly describe your role within Enbridge as relates to the cross bore?

MS. LAWLER:  My role is director of integrity.  And as such, I'm responsible for integrity management for the utility, and included in that responsibility is the sewer safety program, which is an integrity management program, which is within our damage prevention department, which reports through to me.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Can you please briefly describe the nature of Enbridge's understanding of the cross bore issue or danger or risk over time?

MS. LAWLER:  Enbridge first became aware of the cross bore risk when a tragic incident occurred at our affiliate, St. Lawrence Gas, in New York State.

In that instance, a plumber attempted to clear a blocked sewer beyond the foundation wall of the house.  The plumber damaged a cross bore, which was a gas service that was intersecting a sewer lateral, and it allowed the gas to travel up the sewer lateral and into the house, where it ignited.  It resulted in an explosion and a fatality.

MR. STEVENS:  When did this incident take place?

MS. LAWLER:  The incident occurred in 2004.

At that time, Enbridge did not appreciate that the same circumstance could arise in our franchise area.  We were under the belief that the circumstance of gas/sewer conflicts would not occur in our franchise area, since sewer systems tend to be so much deeper than gas systems due to freeze/thaw issues.

The issue was thought to be a United States issue.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand, though, that Enbridge's opinion changed over time.  Can you describe when and how Enbridge came to a different view of the risks of cross bores within your franchise areas?

MS. LAWLER:  In May 2007, Enbridge experienced a near-miss, where a cross bore was damaged in Innisfil, Ontario.

In that case, we were lucky because the plumber that was trying to clear the blocked sewer entered the sewer lateral through an outside clean-out.  So when he used his equipment to clear the blocked sewer and the gas line was damaged, it had a route to escape to atmosphere it and didn't go into the house.

But it led us to understand and reconsider that a cross bore issue could occur within our franchise area.

MR. STEVENS:  With that in mind, what was the evolution of Enbridge's thinking and reaction to the cross bore issue?

MS. LAWLER:  Post that incident, our understanding of the cross bore risk has evolved.  Through research and operational activities, we've come to understand that cross bores are a real safety issue within our service area.

To address the safety issue, Enbridge created a cross bore safety program, which we implemented in 2009, to address cross bore issues and reduce chances of serious incidents.  That safety program has evolved over time as our knowledge has grown.

We've also been active participants in the industry efforts to understand and respond to the cross bore issue, culminating in a recent amendment to the Technical Standards and Safety Authority's code adoption document.  The Technical Standards and Safety Authority is our safety regulator, and they have specified that Ontario utilities are to include, for their distribution integrity management program, an action plan for cross bores, including elements of reducing the risk of creating a new cross bore, raising public awareness about the risk associated a cross bore, and an assessment of the risk in the plan to mitigate risks associated with cross bores.

MR. STEVENS:  What has Enbridge done in response to this direction from the Technical Standards and Safety Association, or the TSSA?

MS. LAWLER:  Enbridge has filed an action plan with the TSSA setting out the steps being taken through the sewer safety program to address the safety issues related to cross bores.  It's the cost associated with the sewer safety program that Enbridge is asking to recover at a Z factor in 2012.

MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Lawler, the action plan that Enbridge has filed with the TSSA is substantially similar to that which is found within the filed evidence in this case?

MS. LAWLER:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Turning to you, Mr. Culbert, can you briefly describe your role and involvement with the cross bore issue and activity that we're talking about in this case?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  My department, regulatory accounting, is responsible for and prepared the revenue requirement calculations associated with the forecast costs for 2012, which were filed at appendix C of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 6, which related to are the Z factor request.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Finally, can you please explain, Mr. Culbert, why Enbridge is requesting Z factor treatment for the costs associated with the cross bore issue?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  As indicated in that evidence, beginning at page 17 of the exhibit I just mentioned, we indicate how, and that each of the Z factor criteria that form part of our IRM mechanism have been met.

And, therefore, accordingly, as of the date of meeting the criteria, the amounts are appropriately includable in our 2012 rates.  In addition, since this is a relatively new program, we've already requested a variance account around it to ensure that only the actual costs incurred and revenue requirement impact are recovered.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, those are our questions in chief.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have the intervenors decided on an order?  Just one note of caution.  The Board does not need to rehash the evidence-in-chief that we've just gone through.  I expect the questions from intervenors to be strategic and direct and focussed on the idea as whether the Z factor treat is appropriate or not.  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I'm leading on this one, Mr. Chairman.

Panel, I did, in an e-mail a few days ago, ask that the evidence that the company filed in the EB-2009-0172 with respect to this topic be brought to the hearing room and made available for filing.  Do we have that here today?

MR. STEVENS:  We do, Mr. Thompson.  I believe it is being handed around now.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think these need to be given exhibit numbers.  They are from -- identified clearly on their face, evidence from a previous proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm in your hands either way.  It doesn't matter to me.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm certainly comfortable, Mr. Chair, with referring to them as previously filed evidence.  I would point out they come in three pieces, in that there's a main piece of evidence, and then two appendixes.  So the packages that have been handed out are three separate pieces of paper.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Sebalj, do you have a point of view on that?

MS. SEBALJ:  I think referring to them as the exhibits in the previous filing is fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  All right.  Well, witness panel, this evidence filed previously indicates that the parties responsible are Mr. Clark and Ms. Lawler.  Have I got that straight?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is the information that is set out in these exhibits correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Clark?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, I'll come back to that in a moment.  Now, in terms of -- Mr. Culbert, I guess this is for you.  You have a request for a Z factor here with respect to cross bores, and also a variance account.

Am I correct that the variance account request is dependent on achieving Z factor eligibility?  In other words, if there is no Z factor, there is no variance account?

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I'll pose these questions just generally, and whoever on the panel is best equipped to answer them, please respond.

Do you agree with me that the cross bore is a form of third party damage risk?

MS. LAWLER:  As I indicated, the cross bore safety program, the sewer safety program, is part of the damage prevention group at this point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  And damage prevention involves what?

MS. LAWLER:  We seek to try to ensure that people do not damage our facilities and cause releases of gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  What's the -- in what budget centre does damage prevention fall?

MS. LAWLER:  It falls under pipeline integrity and safety.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that a large budgeting item?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Included in it would be insurance for damages caused to third party equipment?

MS. LAWLER:  Our insurance is part of a different -- actually, yes, that's true.

MR. THOMPSON:  And included in it would be the estimated costs of locates dealing with new construction or anything else?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  What's the magnitude of the budget, approximately, of this pipeline integrity group?

MS. LAWLER:  For pipeline integrity and safety?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, the whole thing, roughly.

MS. LAWLER:  I can't recall off the top of my head.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you give me an order of magnitude?

MR. CULBERT:  We can provide an undertaking to provide that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I have an undertaking on that, please?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE BUDGET AMOUNT FOR PIPELINE INTEGRITY GROUP.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is Enbridge a prudent utility?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I should say if you have read my cross-examination of Union, you'll find no surprises here.  Have you read it?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, then you'll agree with me, as Union did, that cross bores is a known risk and has been known for some time?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  In your case, it at least dates back to 2004 when there was this incident with St. Lawrence Gas; is that right?

MS. LAWLER:  As I indicated in the examination in-chief, at that time we became aware of the risk, but did not feel it was an applicable risk to our franchise area.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate that.  In terms of when you first knew about it, you knew about it at least by 2004?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the decision you took then was, Well, it's a risk but, as far as we're concerned, it's not a risk that applies to us.  That was the management response to the risk; correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the steps that have been taken since that incident in St. Lawrence with respect to the risk are summarized, I think, in the evidence in the last proceeding -- not the last proceeding, but the -- can we give this a K number?  It's easier to refer to.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's give it one K number for the three pieces.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  K2.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6: SUMMARY OF STEPS TAKEN SINCE ST. LAWRENCE GAS INCIDENT.

MR. THOMPSON:  K2.6.  Thanks.  Okay.  2.6, yes.

So if you flip quickly to paragraph –- well, page 3, you'll see in paragraph 9 you talk about the risks being known for some time, and then you talk about the incident at St. Lawrence in 2004; correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is St. Lawrence a subsidiary of Enbridge or is it simply an affiliate?

MR. CULBERT:  It's an affiliate.

MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, you describe there what St. Lawrence has done in paragraph 10, and paragraph 11 you talk about Enbridge being aware of 21 explosions in the US.

And then you start with -- in 2007, Enbridge starts taking proactive steps to deal with this risk; is that fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So throughout 2007, 2008 and 2009, you were taking proactive steps, and in October of 2009, by that time, you'd developed what you then call the sewer lateral initiative, and you presented that to the Board in EB-2009-0172 proceeding; fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the request was in that case, for a Z factor, you were forecasting 2010 costs of $3.6 million; correct?

MR. CULBERT:  A revenue requirement of --


MR. THOMPSON:  Revenue requirement, I'm sorry.

That's shown in paragraph 2.  And at the end of the day, before rates were set for 2010, the request for that Z factor was withdrawn; correct?

MR. CULBERT:  The request was removed with respect to that fiscal period in terms of the overall settlement for that year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's referenced in the -- I think in the settlement agreement that's in your evidence.  It's in the prefiled evidence somewhere.

If you take, subject to check, the language is it's withdrawn without prejudice to bringing it forward in a future case, or words to that effect; is that fair?

MR. CULBERT:  I would agree.

MR. THOMPSON:  You've now brought it forward in this case, again.  And as I understand it, in doing that you're relying heavily on the TSAA (sic) order in 2011; is that correct?  Or am I misunderstanding your rationale here?

MS. LAWLER:  The TSSA.  And that is a culminating event, but there were -- as I described, our knowledge and our program has evolved over time, and there were no costs associated with the program included in the base rates.

MR. CULBERT:  So as of the date of order, the company is now mandated, required, to perform the work.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but on that score -- again, this is stuff that I asked Union -- but on that score, the evidence in Union was to the effect Enbridge had been very proactive here.  Union got on-side.  You then, through the CGA, brought it to the standards board, and it was that sort of impetus that led to the order.

I'm paraphrasing, but is that a reasonable paraphrase?

MS. LAWLER:  We helped educate the Technical Standards and Safety Authority about the cross bore risk.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the order simply describes what a prudent utility should do to manage the cross bore risk; fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Fair. There are three elements in the amendment to the code adoption document, which cover public awareness, trying not to create new cross bores, and understanding the risks and mitigating them.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I put it to you that's essentially what a prudent utility would do to manage the cross bore risk.  It's, in effect, what you developed back in 2009; it's virtually identical?

MS. LAWLER:  The elements that the TSSA has requested through the changes to the code adoption document are part of what we have as our sewer safety program.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it was part of what you had back in 2009?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so the order really confirms planning actions; it doesn't mandate anything that you hadn't already done, other than filing an action plan?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, what it does from that point on is, while Enbridge was performing activities to deal with the issue, the company no longer has an option to change its direction in regards to what its intentions were.  It now is required to perform the activities that it believed were appropriate.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, to be precise, you've had a plan since 2009 and you've been following that plan; correct?

MS. LAWLER:  We've had a plan that has been evolving, probably since 2008, to be more accurate.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But you had plans in 2009 that are fleshed out in K2.6?

MS. LAWLER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I suggest to you that, substantively, there is no difference, no material difference in scope between what you fleshed out there and what you are fleshing out in this evidence; is that fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the scope of the plan is something within management control.  If you say it's been evolving, that's been evolving because of management's proactive involvement here?

MS. LAWLER:  The scope of the plan is based on our understanding of the risk that has evolved over time.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it's within management control?

MS. LAWLER:  Inasmuch as we've been trying to proactively trying to manage this risk, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the costs in 2009 and 2010 and 2011, they are in the records somewhere, I believe.

Could you just put those on the record for me?

MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, what was the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  The revenue requirement costs related to the program 2009, 2010, 2011.  I believe they're in the record somewhere.  Unfortunately, I don't have the reference.

MR. STEVENS:  I think, Mr. Thompson, that for at least 2010 and 2011 year-to-date, as of the date of an interrogatory, they are set out in response to BOMA Interrogatory No. 5, at I-2-5.

I'm not sure that the costs have been reduced to a revenue requirement anywhere.

MR. THOMPSON:  Rather than me fumbling around trying to find it, could you undertake to do that, Mr. Culbert?  Take those costs and just reflect them as a revenue requirement amount for -- I'm looking for 2009, 2010 and 2011.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we could undertake to do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my sense is it's, in your case  --


MS. SEBALJ:  We'll mark it as J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO SHOW COSTS FOR 2009, 2010 AND 2011 AS REVENUE REQUIREMENT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there any qualification you want to place on that undertaking?

MR. CULBERT:  To the best of my ability -- we were just discussing the information that's available –- to the best of my ability, we will convert it into the revenue requirement.  They would be substantially the same as what we've presented in the 2012 calculation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Which is -- is it 3.6 million?

MR. CULBERT:  2012 calculation was $3.8 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  3.8?  And my sense is, looking at -- having looked at the numbers previously, that that is the number that would fall out, more or less, from your previous planned expenditures; in other words, it's considerably more than $1.5 million in each case?

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, that, then, takes me to the Z factor criteria.  I am looking at them in the settlement agreement, which is Exhibit -- it's at Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1 in your evidence, but I'm sure there are other places.

And I'm looking at Roman numeral 2:
"The cost must be beyond the control of the company's management and is not a risk in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  As we've discussed, cross bores were a known risk prior to 2007?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And your evidence has demonstrated that a prudent utility such as Enbridge responding to this risk -- it is a risk in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps?

MS. LAWLER:  If I could turn you to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 6 at --


MR. THOMPSON:  Just answer my question before we go there, if you wouldn't mind.  Is this a risk - and I'm suggesting to you that it is - in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps?

MS. LAWLER:  The costs associated with the program are costs that we could not avoid as a prudent utility.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's not the question.  The costs relate to a risk in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps; isn't that correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Again, we attempted to answer this question as a response to an interrogatory from Energy Probe, Interrogatory 6, which is at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 6.  And our interpretation of that element of a Z factor is that it was established to ensure that the utility could not claim a cost as a Z factor when it is a cost that could have otherwise been avoided if the utility had acted prudently.

And, indeed, that is the case in this case.  It's a cost that we could not avoid.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's not what the Z factor says.  The Z factor says the cost must be beyond the control of the company.  First of all, it has to be uncontrollable costs, and all the costs in your plan are not uncontrollable.

Secondly, it must be a cost in respect of a risk -- sorry, a cost related to risk in respect of which a prudent -- sorry.  If it's a cost related to a risk in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps, it's not a Z factor.  It falls outside the ambit of the criteria.  Do you not agree?

MR. CULBERT:  I guess our interpretation is we look at it as, having become aware of the risk that we're speaking to, at that point it was prudent and appropriate for Enbridge to take steps to deal with the issue.  That's our interpretation of the Z factor.

MR. THOMPSON:  You became aware of the risk in 2004 and you took steps, and all you've done during the IRM period is accelerate expenditures with respect to that known risk.  That's what's happened; isn't that correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Again, for purposes of this Z factor request, the costs as we entered into the incentive regulation term were not included in base rates, and we believe it was prudent expenditure to, as you describe it, accelerate the spending of those costs in mitigating this risk up to the point of where we are today, with a Technical Standards and Safety Authority directive to have a program in place.

MR. THOMPSON:  But there are lots of costs you've incurred in 2008, 2009 and 2010 that weren't included in base rates, dollar amounts.  You have a budget, and you operate within the ambit of that budget.  You have an IRM plan, and you operate within the parameters of that plan.

There are lots of costs that fall into that category; fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And to qualify for Z factor eligibility, you have to show that the costs are beyond the role of the company and are not related to a risk in which a prudent utility would take risk mitigation steps.  I suggest to you you can't show that here; do you agree?

MR. CULBERT:  Not entirely, no.  What we're saying is that the costs that we are having to incur could not have been contemplated by the company because of the evolvement of the issue prior to 2007.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'll move on.  I think I'm being argumentative here.

Now, in terms of the subject matter of the TSSA order, as we discussed, it's simply describing the steps that should be taken with respect to the cross bore risk; fair?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if that's Z factor ineligible, as I suggest it is, then the subject matter of the TSSA order is Z factor ineligible actions; fair?

MS. LAWLER:  I'm sorry, I don't follow you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if costs related to known risks fall outside the ambit of the Z factor and the order relates to that risk, then the order relates to a non-Z factor -- to a Z factor ineligible subject matter?  That's all I'm saying.

MR. CULBERT:  I guess we would agree.  If the Board does not find that all of the Z factor criteria are met, then it wouldn't qualify as a Z factor; true.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm suggesting to you the passage -- or the existence of the order is of no assistance in demonstrating Z factor eligibility.

MR. CULBERT:  Again, we believe it's then outside of the company's ability to make any other decision besides performing the work.

MR. THOMPSON:  Turning then, if I could, to items of expenditure within the program, part of it is locates; correct?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And locates are done when new construction takes place and if homeowner needs a locate for other reasons?

MR. CLARK:  There's actually a couple of different kinds of locates.  The locate you are referring to is for new construction or for a homeowner; you are correct.  And the other kind of locate are sewer safety inspection, is the one we would respond to as a result of a blocked sewer call.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But in terms of locates prior to 2004 before you started working on cross bores and subsequently, they have never been regarded as uncontrollable, in the sense they are subject to variance account treatment.  You forecast them, and then if you spend more or less, that's the way it works; fair, Mr. Culbert?

MR. CULBERT:  That's true.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the proactive investigation aspect of your costs, that's clearly controllable.  You can scope that?

MS. LAWLER:  Again, that's an element of the program that has evolved over time, but, yes, we can elect to change the scope of what we were looking at.

MR. THOMPSON:  Video assessments, again, that's controllable.  You can scope that activity?

MS. LAWLER:  I would disagree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why would you disagree with that?

MS. LAWLER:  Because, again, we've identified a risk that we've implemented a procedure to try to mitigate, which requires video inspection in certain circumstances.

MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe I'm misinterpreting the scope of your video assessment criteria.  In the Union case, we heard evidence that municipalities themselves conduct video assessments of their -- routinely conduct video assessments of their systems.  And in the Union case, that apparently led to discovery of 41 cross bores.  Does the same apply in your franchise area?

MR. CLARK:  Actually, yes.  Municipalities do conduct video inspection of the main line sewer systems, which does apprise us of situations where gas mains or services have been installed through the main line sewer, not through the sewer lateral.

The video inspection that we are dealing with here is strictly in reference to the sewer lateral.

MR. THOMPSON:  When you say the "lateral", that is from the main to the building, then?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.  That's the service line.

MR. THOMPSON:  Finally, in terms of what denying the Z factor eligibility means in 2012, 2012 is the last year of your IRM plan; is that correct, Mr. Culbert?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So in 2013, whatever you are spending on cross bores and anything else in pipe integrity will be the subject matter of a new budget?

MR. CULBERT:  It will be contained within the budget that's brought forward for a request for 2013 rates, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So planned spending in 2013 and beyond will be -- will be covered by the rebasing case and whatever else ensues after that rebasing case; fair?

MR. CULBERT:  As well as any amounts that have been spent that are included in asset values to date; correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Finally, in terms of the ability of Enbridge's IRM program to cover costs associated with risks that a -- risks in respect of which a prudent utility would take risk-mitigation steps and other cost increases beyond 2007 base, could you undertake to provide for us the overearnings of EGD in the years 2008, 2009, 2010, and estimated for '11 and '12, as was done in the Union case?

I can get this '08, '09 and '10, I think, from ferreting them out of the records.

MR. STEVENS:  I guess have a couple of comments in response.  First, Enbridge doesn't believe that that sort of information is relevant to the five discrete Z factor criteria that are set out in the IR settlement agreement.

But I expect that will become an issue for argument, so I don't want to oppose the undertaking at this point and put the Panel on the spot.

So with that caveat, we can provide the information for 2009 and 2010, along with a forecast.  I don't think anything is necessarily final for 2011 at this point.  Mr. Culbert can correct me if there is any sensitivity about providing that information for 2001.

MR. CULBERT:  We could provide an estimate of 2011.

MR. STEVENS:  I don't believe we're in position to provide anything for 2012 at this point.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought somebody indicated to Mr. Shepherd that you're filing your rebasing case next week, is what I heard.

MR. CULBERT:  My response was it's imminent, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But in that rebasing case, you'll have revenue sufficiency estimates for 2012, and you'll have a forecast for your test year; correct?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  It's in the stages of being approved by the management of the company at this point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could I ask when it's approved that they be filed as exhibits in this case, on the assumption that it's coming within -- as you say, imminent?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  The only one I didn't hear anything about was 2008.  I believe you asked for '08, '09, '10, and estimated '11 and '12, Mr. Thompson, but Mr. Stevens, you referred to '09.  Was that just an oversight?

MR. STEVENS:  I haven't heard 2008 as being part of it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Did I mis-hear that?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I think I asked for '08, as well.

MS. SEBALJ:  So is '08 also –-

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  '08, '09 and '10 have already been produced in various earnings-sharing mechanisms, so they're...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The purpose of the undertaking, I presume, Mr. Thompson, is to show there was a sufficiency of money around, that it's two-way Street, if you like.  That's what your --


MR. THOMPSON:  That there's headroom to accommodate these expenses that I say fall outside the ambit of the Z factor.

MR. CULBERT:  There is, if I might comment, Mr. Chair.

The Z factor criteria do have contained within them a specific -- I'll call it a financial impact criteria, which is the $1.5 million threshold.  The agreement, in our opinion, does not contain any other sub-test or qualifier that speaks to whether the company was in an overearnings position or other -– so anyway --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me just say that the extent to which the Board will place significant probative value on this information is in question, but the company seems to not have much difficulty in providing the information, so we'll order the undertaking.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it's J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO PROVIDE EGD OVEREARNING AMOUNTS FOR 2008, 2009 AND 2010, AND ESTIMATES FOR 2011 AND 2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Quinn?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn

MR. QUINN:  I will again be conscious of the time and Mr. Thompson's cover of some of my expected cross-examination, so I will try to be concise.

Good afternoon, panel.  I'm Duane Quinn, representing the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

As I did with your neighbouring utility last week, I feel compelled as a former member of the advisory council of the TSSA to say that on behalf of my client and me professionally, we have no issue with the prudence of the investment of the cross bore by the utility, but we do want to understand the evolution, as Mr. Thompson was covering with you.

So I'm going to talk about some areas that were somewhat different from where Mr. Thompson covered.

As explained -- as your evidence explains, cross bores tend to result from the use of trenchless technology, as an efficiency step in the original installation of pipe to mitigate damage to third parties and cost to the utility; is that a fair characterization?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And as such, would you agree with me that cross bores are an unintended effect of an otherwise efficient method of installing plant?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And again, from your evidence, it is efficient but, as we're coming to find out, not always effective?

MR. CLARK:  That's what we have discovered.

MR. QUINN:  It was helpful, as I went through your evidence, to find that you did do a -- you did submit the presentation you did for the TSSA.  And I've got the reference here.  If you could turn it up, I think it would be helpful to follow along.  It's at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 6, appendix B.  Do you have that?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  The cover page for the presentation says "Utility cross bores action plan for compliance" and this is final draft, September 19th, 2011.

I take it that this was the presentation that was done for the TSSA?  There was no significant editorial after the final draft?

MS. LAWLER:  Nothing significant, but there have been minor amendments in the version that was actually filed with the TSSA.

MR. QUINN:  If you could identify for me -- I'm only going to reference a couple of parts of the document.

If it was changed in content, if you are aware of it, if you could just highlight that for the record, we would appreciate it.

MS. LAWLER:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  So if I can ask you to turn to page 6 of 30 in the appendix B, it references the Canadian CSA Standard Z 662/07, and it's annex M.8.1, specifically, but before we delve into what that says, can you -- I guess Ms. Lawler -- describe for us what the Z 662 is, and how it is used by Enbridge?

MS. LAWLER:  It's the Canadian Standards Association Pipeline Code that we live to in Ontario.  It's an adopted by the Technical Standards and Safety Authority as a mandatory document for us to guide how we do pipeline installation.

MR. QUINN:  Simply put, it's basically your code book which stipulates the minimum standards under which you act?

MS. LAWLER:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And this document, in your experience, is updated periodically?  Well, I'll ask the question:  How is the document updated?

MS. LAWLER:  It's updated on a four-year cycle.  So actually the Z662/11 is about to be -- is published and I would say is imminently about to be adopted by the Technical Standards and Safety Authority in Ontario, but we do not have the formal code adoption document for the '11 version yet.

MR. QUINN:  Enbridge is represented on the committees that evolve the standard, review any changes and make a decision basically on whether the content is changed in the document?

MS. LAWLER:  We have a number of representatives on a number of the sub-committees, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Are you familiar with your integrity sub-committee representative for integrity?

MS. LAWLER:  There's a safety and loss management sub-committee, which includes the annex which is referred to in this slide.  And, to my knowledge, we do not have anybody on that committee at this point in time.

MR. QUINN:  I read, and would you take it subject to check, there was a Mr. Cramm, but I was looking on the integrity portion of the code.  Does Mr. Cramm report to you?

MS. LAWLER:  No, he does not.  Again, was it the '07 version of the code?

MR. QUINN:  What I might do is move on, because I don't think it's going to be too pertinent to where I have to go.  I will not follow through on my questions there.

But, specifically, the section of annex 8.8.1 that is quoted here reads:
"Gas distribution companies should identify and document hazards that can lead to a failure or damage incident with significant consequences."


You are familiar with that stipulation, Ms. Lawler?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Now, if we could just flip forward three pages to page 9 of 30, you have a slide entitled "Assessing the Risk"?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Under the top heading of "Quantify Existing Risk and Future Risk With Status Quo Approach", you have low frequency, high consequence event.

Could you just at a high level describe the risk analysis that is done when you refer to "low frequency, high consequence"?

MS. LAWLER:  Risk is the product of the likelihood of an event and the consequence of that event.  So when we say it's a low frequency, we don't believe it's a very likely event in terms of how often a cross bore occurs.  But, indeed, when a plumber or a homeowner damages a line that's in a sewer lateral, it can lead to devastating consequences, as evidenced by the number of incidents in the United States.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate you've applied it in this slide and you've summarized it well in terms of its application to cross bore, but do you do that risk analysis with other incidents in your area?

MS. LAWLER:  With other known threats to the system, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Is this a new risk analysis practice?

MS. LAWLER:  The -- it's relatively new.  The idea of distribution integrity management is relatively new, and so -- and an evolving practice.

MR. QUINN:  But the tool of -- on a matrix to come up with the expected frequency and the potential consequence and mapping that out to find the highest risk threats, that itself as a generic practice is not a new practice; would you agree with that?

MS. LAWLER:  No, it's not new.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  If I take you back in terms of your opening examination-in-chief, you described the incident that -- in your affiliate's franchise.  Was this type of risk analysis done in 2004 by Enbridge or Enbridge Inc. to look at that situation?

MS. LAWLER:  Not to my knowledge.  If it was, I would say it is cursory, and, again -- so low frequency, high consequence.  We didn't believe -- we believed that the frequency was so infrequent in our franchise area that it was not a relevant risk to us.

MR. QUINN:  Enbridge Gas Distribution did not see it as a high risk, but the parent company did not identify to you as a high risk, and I'll accept that.

Then I just want to move forward to May 2007.  You have an incident in your own franchise.  Did Enbridge do a risk analysis similar to this in 2007?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  I think that that's exactly when we started to evolve the thought process with respect to this type of analysis for this type of a threat.

MR. QUINN:  I guess I'm going to just simply ask the question.  Was that risk analysis documented?

MS. LAWLER:  I wouldn't say that the specific analysis of -- the product, again, of frequency times consequence with respect to the cross bore threat, was done with respect to getting a quantitative number.  We actually did engage a consultant to help us with this, and they felt we didn't have enough data to substantiate a risk analysis, a quantitative risk analysis.

So we would have done a qualitative risk analysis.

MR. QUINN:  I think I'll come to that later.  I just want to refer you back to page 6, and you need not turn it up.  It talks about:
"Gas distribution companies should identify and document hazards that can lead to a failure or damage incident with significant consequences."


Would you undertake to go back to check to see if there was documentation of the May 2007 incident?  It does not have to be risk analysis as we've done, but can you undertake to go back and see if that was documented at the time?

MS. LAWLER:  What I do know was documented post that incident was we relatively quickly turned around a safety alert, which is a document that we put out when a new hazard is identified and we want to alert all our field staff to it.

MR. QUINN:  A safety alert.  So that's an internal document that you are communicating to staff of Enbridge?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So I guess to come into compliance with the minimum standards, as we talked about before, in Z662, something would have had to have been documented in either your area or in some area of Enbridge.  Would that be accurate?

MS. LAWLER:  Hm-hm.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to undertake to provide that?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the purpose of that, Mr. Quinn?  Why do we need the documentation for that?  The witness has indicated they did an assessment.  They procured an opinion from an outside contractor, who indicated they didn't have adequate data to do a quantitative assessment.

What do you hope to gain from the specific production?

MR. QUINN:  It was news to me, sir, that the consultant said they didn't have enough data.  I was going to ask some questions -- I'm going to ask probably one question about the work that was done by that consultant, but clearly we have -- I'm familiar with the risk analysis from -- with TSSA, and clearly when a company does this, they have to determine the level of urgency and the steps that are prudent to take in moving forward.

So now we have a 2007 incident with a 2009 approach, which is now coming to us in 2012 for costs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hasn't the witness already talked about that?  Hasn't the witness already talked about the evolution of their approach to this subject matter?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, and if we're going to follow what -- I'm not going to cover Mr. Thompson's line that I had, also.  I thought we would just be able to understand the steps that were taken and --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm very reluctant to order productions that really don't move the needle from a probative value.  But -- the company has indicated they will provide that, and so we'll order it, but there's a limit to the requirement to document stuff that has already been testified to.  So we'll give that a number.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J2.5.  Without taking too much time, can you summarize?  I'm just not sure what the time period is we're looking for, and the nature of the document is the documentation of --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  2007 is the time frame we're talking about, and it has to do with the Innisfil incident and the --


MS. LAWLER:  If I produced the safety alert, is that sufficient?  I can tell you the safety alert -- what the topic of the safety alert was was, again, the element of the cross bore risk reduction to try to eliminate the creation of new cross bores.  But we had no sense of how much that would cost, how difficult it would be to implement, and, indeed, it wasn't a fulsome response, because it didn't include the public education, which we came to realize was a critical element of the plan, and also further understanding the risks and mitigating the risks, which, again, it was an evolution over time.  And I would submit that these costs were not part of our base rates.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So I think there's a description there.  Now, does the safety alert satisfy your purpose, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Sir, with respect to understanding this, what I'm hearing is this was to prevent future --


MS. LAWLER:  The creation of new cross bores.

MR. QUINN:  Exactly.  But it did not address the potential existence and the risk of the potential existence of --


MS. LAWLER:  Correct.  That was something that we didn't have an appreciation for at that time.  That required significant research, understanding.

MR. QUINN:  And that was done in a report, then?

MR. STEVENS:  I think, to be fair, the witness has indicated that the sort of report you're looking for doesn't exist.  There wasn't enough data.

Whatever it is you that think should have been developed in response to the 2007 standard -- which I'm not sure was even in place at this time.  I don't think that's been established.  I don't think this document that you are seeking even exists.  The witnesses have offered to provide this safety alert, which, as I understand it, will provide confirmation of the company's understanding of and response to the identified risk as of this time, in May 2007.

MR. QUINN:  As it pertains to future risk.  Sir, I heard your feedback, and I will drop it at this point.  I believe that there is merit to understanding how this evolution occurred, but I will move on, to expedite the process.

MS. SEBALJ:  My apologies, but do we have a J2.5?  Are you asking for the safety alert, or --


MR. QUINN:  It may be informative, so it's easy to provide by the panel, and so I will accept that at this time.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE SAFETY ALERT.

MR. QUINN:  Moving forward and moving to the current period, are other risk management issues that Enbridge is dealing with at this time that are similar to cross bore, in terms of you do an analysis of risk, with frequently and consequence?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  There are a number.

MR. QUINN:  I'll just be direct.  I understand that you are investigating risks associated with some of your earlier versions of plastic pipe?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Can you explain briefly what this issue is, and what the concerns Enbridge has with the plastic pipe?

MS. LAWLER:  Our early generation plastic pipe, in some cases in the States there have been long propagation failures in early generation plastic.

So we have sought to engage the Gas Technology Institute out of Chicago to do testing on our early plastics to determine if they have similar characteristics, and therefore would be subject to a similar failure mode.

To this point, we have determined that it looks like our pipe is in better shape than some of the US utilities.

That said, it is subject to further study by Gas Technology Institute.

MR. QUINN:  How would you be recovering the costs in unamortized capital for that assessment?

MS. LAWLER:  That specific study, I believe, would be an O&M study.

MR. QUINN:  I guess -- do you know the quantum of costs that has been invested in that investigation at this point?

MS. LAWLER:  I could undertake to get it.  I would estimate less than $100,000.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I thought it was a more extensive program, from a previous description that you had put forward to us before.  So I will accept that as sufficient for now.

I'm going to move ahead to the assessment you talked about now, just to make sure that we have it for the record.

You hired, I understand -- is it Dynamic Risk, to develop your risk assessment model?

MS. LAWLER:  Which risk assessment model?

MR. QUINN:  The risk assessment model -– you said your -- you had a consultant provide you an assessment that you didn't have enough data; was that Dynamic Risk?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  When were they hired?

MS. LAWLER:  We worked with Dynamic Risk on and off for a number of years.

MR. QUINN:  So they are -- can you tell me the status of their study at this time?

MR. CLARK:  Actually, Dynamic Risk was engaged in this project later in 2007, after the Innisfil incident or near-miss.  And what it was, they actually provided us with some micro- and macro-factor information as to where, potentially, cross bores could occur, based on proximity to water, the type -- how houses were built, the depth of the sewer system, the proximity to lakes, depth of overburden.

So they tried to identify a number of factors as to -- to identify locations where we could go and do some proactive investigation, which I think you pointed to before, you know, where we could go and look for these. Potentially, where did they happen?

So they did -- they gave us some quantitative -– some qualitative information about where that was, in general areas.  And we did react to that information in 2008.

MR. QUINN:  So they are not currently studying the issue for you at this time?

MR. CLARK:  No, they're not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson covered a number of questions about the costs, but I had a different reference and I need to seek clarification.  So the better interrogatory that I was looking at from my question was VECC Interrogatory No. 9, which would be found at Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 9.  Do you have that?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  The second page outlines the annual progress of routine locate volume and emergency locate volume, with two figures at the bottom providing the year-to-date 2011.

I was confused about routine and emergency locates, because when I -- and I don't think you have to turn this up, but in your Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 6, page 13, you had referenced 5,530 locates were forecasted for 2007.

Maybe you'd have to look it up to verify this, but could you tell me is that routine locates?  Is it emergency locates?  Or is it a total of both?

MR. CLARK:  When we reference routine locates here, a routine locate is a locate for construction, when it's seen in this interrogatory.

And the emergency locate is what we saw the sewer safety inspection, which is a result of somebody calling for a blocked sewer through Ontario One Call.

MR. QUINN:  So if I understand you correctly, then, the 5,530 are the emergency locate volumes as forecasted for 2012?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  That's better clarity.  Thank you.

It may be in your evidence, but I didn't find it; when did Enbridge become a member of the Cross Bore Safety Association?

MR. CLARK:  Actually, we were asked to participate on the board of directors in 2010.

MR. QUINN:  But did you become --


MS. LAWLER:  We did respond to this in an interrogatory.  I'm just trying to --


MR. QUINN:  I was trying to find it myself and I couldn't come up with it.  I thought you might know off the top of your head, Mr. Clark, if you have been involved.

MS. LAWLER:  I believe it's BOMA Interrogatory 6, tab 2, schedule 6 -– Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 6.

MR. QUINN:  Would you just read the year that's there, to save a little...

MS. LAWLER:  Under (b), the question was:

"When was the Cross Bore Safety Association founded?  When did Enbridge join?  When did it become a lead?"

So the response on (b) is that:

"The Cross Bore Safety Association was founded in 2007, and an Enbridge representative named Cliff Clark was elected to the board of directors in October 2010."

MR. QUINN:  Is that the year you joined, Mr. Clark?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  So you didn't join earlier on?

MR. CLARK:  No.

MR. QUINN:  I think, then, Mr. Clark, you would be familiar that the first incident of -- first documented incident of cross bore and fatality was in 1976?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  In which state was that, sir?

MR. CLARK:  I'd have to look that up.  I don't know offhand.

MR. QUINN:  Would you take it, subject to check, it was Wisconsin?

MR. CLARK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. QUINN:  We've heard a number of times about the depth of sewers, and Wisconsin would have a comparable climate to your territory; would that be accurate?

MR. CLARK:  It's very close.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Just drawing to a close here and making sure that I covered ground that wasn't already covered by Mr. Thompson.

So you rolled out your complete program across your franchise area.  When did you roll out your complete program across the franchise area?

MR. CLARK:  It was rolled out thoroughly and completely throughout 2010.

MR. QUINN:  2010?  So this was long prior to the directors' order?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Why did you do it ahead of the directors' order?

MR. CLARK:  We assessed a risk and developed a program based on mitigating that risk.

MR. QUINN:  So knowing what you do know now, if the TSSA did not issue the order in August and have not yet, to this point today, in your experience and opinion, would you be continuing to operate this program in 2012?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Asked in a different fashion, I guess, if the Board did not allow for the establishment of a Z factor for cross bores, would Enbridge discontinue or alter the program in any fashion?

MR. CLARK:  No.

MR. QUINN:  I think those are my questions, sir.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wasn't actually going to ask some questions, but I have three brief questions.  It shouldn't take more than a couple minutes.

The first is just a question of clarification, Mr. Culbert.  You were asked whether St. Lawrence is an affiliate or a subsidiary.  You said it was an affiliate.  It's actually a wholly-owned subsidiary, isn't it?  I looked at your --


MR. STEVENS:  I believe that's correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Secondly, you were asked by Mr. Quinn -- in your questioning by Mr. Quinn, you said that as a result of what Dynamic Risk told you, you couldn't do a quantitative risk analysis, but you did do a qualitative risk analysis.  That's not the safety alert; right?  That's a different document?

MS. LAWLER:  When I talk about a qualitative risk analysis, it's not necessarily well documented.  It is our knowledgeable people knowing that this is a risk that we need to be addressing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the document that flowed out of it was the safety alert.  There wasn't another report that came out of it?

MS. LAWLER:  Again, there would be files and files of evolutionary documents about our evolution of the understanding of the problem and what we were going to do to address it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My third question, which is -- I'm listening to the questioning and I see a causation issue, and I take it that what you are saying is that your spending this year is not because of the TSSA order; true?

MS. LAWLER:  We have no choice but to spend because of the TSSA order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question.  You are going to spend it anyway; right?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is my question:  Is there a component of your spending this year that is specifically caused by the TSSA order?

MS. LAWLER:  No, but, again, we have no option but to have a program due to the TSSA order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I understand that.  Lawyers love causation questions, and that's the causation question.  I'm trying to get a handle on the TSSA order required you to do a plan; right?

MS. LAWLER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have to spend incremental money to do that?

MS. LAWLER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Brett, do you have any questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett

MR. BRETT:  I have just a very few.  This is probably borrowing intellectual capital from one of my colleagues from yesterday.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I hope they are well stocked.

MR. BRETT:  I think this is a good one.  Just following on that discussion, if you did not get Z factor treatment for this program, is there anything in the 2012 program that you've laid out that you would not do?

MS. LAWLER:  No.

MR. BRETT:  Then the other questions, I have a very few questions on what I'll call the nitty-gritty of the numbers here.  And if you just want to have in front of you your evidence which you have, particularly page -- this is Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 6, page 12, which lists the component of your action plan, and page 13, which is the detail.

As I say, I have very few questions.  I just wanted to highlight two or three areas.  The first was that in the BOMA -- in our Interrogatory No. 5, we had asked you about -- that's B -- that's Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 5.  We had asked you about what costs were incurred in the some past years with respect to your -- by your program, by your cross bore activities.  What costs did you incur?

In the response, you gave numbers for 2010, and I don't know that this has been referred to.  If it has, I apologize.  In 2010 you had 2.3 million of O&M and 1.2 of capital.  In 2011 you had 2 -- this is 2011 to date, so that would be, I guess, August 31st, would it?  You filed this document --


MS. LAWLER:  Probably September, is my guess, subject to check.

MR. BRETT:  September 30th.  You had 2.2 million in O&M and 1.1 in capital.  The question is:  Do you have a number for all of 2011, O&M for the complete year at this stage?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that's part of undertaking J2.3, to provide the cross bore revenue requirement amount for 2008 through 2011.

MR. BRETT:  I apologize.  I didn't hear that.  In the same interrogatory, we had -- sorry.  If you look at page 13 of your evidence, you talked about this just a moment ago, emergency inspections.  You had a work volume projected of 5,530 inspections at a cost, O&M cost, of $2,377,000.

And I asked you in that same interrogatory what the range was.  I asked you about the term "work volume", and then you answered that and you said -- and this is in response to (a), part (a) of schedule -- of question number 5 -- of schedule 5.  Do you see that?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  You answered that the term work volume represents the number of calls that will require a response.  The 2.37 represents the total cost to respond and to perform the forecasted emergency natural gas sewer safety inspections.

Then you said:
"Actual volumes from 2010 and 2011 were used to forecast volumes for 2012."


And the range -- unit cost ranged from 257 to 925.  And my quick question is:  What accounts for that range of unit cost?

MR. CLARK:  The range of unit cost is dependent on contracts that were awarded in different areas, and because there are different volumes of work and it's a 24/7 response, we have different unit rates for daytime, evening, weekends and out of town in some cases.

So the highest end of that range, for example, would be one that has to respond to Deep River on a weekend.

MR. BRETT:  I understand.  Deep River is a long way from most commercial industrial centres.  As an Ottawa Valley man, I appreciate that.

You've answered really my second question.  Your O&M forecast for 2012 is 3.68 million.  That's from your page 12, and I was going to ask you to compare that to your 2011, but we'll await your undertaking response.

I think -- you may have answered this in the evidence, but most of the capital in your program for 2012 is with respect to page 14 of your evidence, little (c), sewer lateral locate, capital 1.7 million; work volume, seven-zero-three-two.  Could you just summarize what that capital is?  Is that a capital equipment that you use to do these items?

MR. CLARK:  No.  That's actually a contract cost based on competitive bids to perform a locate --


MR. BRETT:  That's a capitalized construction cost?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct, to perform a sewer lateral locate before construction so we don't damage the sewer lateral.

MR. BRETT:  But that isn't really -- I see.  So that's a capitalization of construction?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Those are my questions.  Thanks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Ms. Sebalj?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj

MS. SEBALJ:  I also had no intention of asking questions, but I just have very few clarifying questions.

If I just do the timeline briefly without attracting the impatience of the Panel, in 2004 there's an incident in at St. Lawrence Gas.  Your assessment is -- doesn't apply to us, basically.


In 2007, you have a near-miss; correct?


MS. LAWLER:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  After that near-miss, you issue a safety alert for future build; correct?


MS. LAWLER:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Between 2007 and 2009, what, if anything, occurs that would incur costs at Enbridge?


MR. CLARK:  During 2008, probably second quarter, third quarter of 2008 is when we started our legacy investigation work.  And also after August of 2008, we started to do locates for capital construction work.


So the costs actually started to appear in 2008.


MS. SEBALJ:  2008.  And your cost of service case -- I obviously should know the answer to this, but I don't off the top of my head -- your cost of service was for 2007 to 2012, so at this point you are in IRM?


MR. CULBERT:  Our cost of service year prior to our current IRM was 2007, and IRM rates took effect as of 2008.


MS. SEBALJ:  And as I understand the evidence, in 2009 is where the rubber starts to hit the road in terms of incurring costs associated with cross bore?


MS. LAWLER:  We started to incur costs in 2008, but again, the program started to ramp up, and it became what I would call a fulsome program in 2009.


MS. SEBALJ:  I think what you told Mr. Thompson is that the costs in each of the years 2009 through 2011 were, ballpark, more than $1.5 million?


MR. CLARK:  Correct.


MS. LAWLER:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is there a reason that -- and I understand this request, this Z factor request is premised on the TSSA order, but is there a reason that prior to the TSSA order there was no Z factor request associated with those specific cross bore costs?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, there was, as was confirmed by Mr. Thompson, in 2009.  And it was --


MS. SEBALJ:  My apologies.


MR. CULBERT:  –- it was removed, in terms of an overall agreement.


MS. SEBALJ:  An overall settlement agreement?


Those are all Staff's questions.  Thanks.

Questions by the Board


MS. QUESNELLE:  Just a couple.  I'm trying to understand if there is a break in how you could characterize this.


What I'm looking at is Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 6, page 12 of 19.  I think Mr. Brett was just at this chart, breaking down the components of the action plan.


And just looking through them and attempting to see if there is a way to characterize the different actions, components of the action plan, is some being responsive to what you know is the existence of the cross bores versus the avoidance of future.


And if I could just perhaps get some assistance going down through the list, and I'll just put forward my assumption and you can tell me if I'm right or wrong.


On the first one, new procedures for addressing blocked sewer lines, that would be an attempt to -- you've got existing cross bores; you don't know where they are, so you've designed a program to investigate upon a blockage?


MR. CLARK:  This is the response portion of the company.


MS. QUESNELLE:  This is very much a response to the existence of – and it's on a prevention...


Public education, would you consider that both, in that people need the education to understand that they need to get you to respond when they have a blocked sewer?


MR. CLARK:  That's really what this is --


MS. QUESNELLE:  Is that the focus there?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MR. QUESNEELLEE:  So I take it that the public awareness, there isn't anyone that -- because your always coming in second.  It's the installation of gas which causes the cross bore, not the reverse, so you have total control and no need to educate the public on the installation hazards?  Is that --


MS. LAWLER:  That's right.


MS. QUESNELLE:  The new construction procedures, obviously that's for taking care of avoidance?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MS. QUESNELLE:  Now, the legacy investigations.  I'm just going two pages in on page 14, looking at the – if that's the right component - and looking at work volumes, that's the legacy investigations.


I'm just curious as to whether or not you envision ramping that element up over time, and I guess I'm trying to understand what you're gleaning from this program.


MR. CLARK:  I guess it might be better if I explain what we've learned about legacy investigations.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. CLARK:  So as a result of what Dynamic Risk helped us identify, which is some macro- and micro-criteria, we went and looked at a bunch of addresses in 2008.  Our success rate was not great.


So again, we tried to program in 2009.  Utilizing that, plus some additional information we were able to learn, and it still was not successful.


So in 2010, we actually altered how we use the program.  So now where we find a cross bore, we go and look at that area, we scope out that area, and then say:  Okay.  Is there any more in that area?  Because that seems to be one of the best indicators.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Where you're finding it, is that from your response to the emergency blockage?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MS. QUESNELLE:  All right.  I'm just trying to get a - and records management, I was a little curious as to the split on that of capital versus OM&A.  Maybe you could describe it with the records management and research and development.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  Some of the records management associated with some system changes that are required in order to capture what was installed with trenchless technology, both from a main and a service perspective.


Some of it is going back historically and looking at areas that we can put clearances into our GIS system.  We know we installed that work historically by open cut, such as new subdivision work.  And also putting in a method of how we can track what we've already cleared.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So that would have a mix of both responsive and avoidance?


MR. CLARK:  It does, yes.


MS. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One question.  Ms. Lawler, I thought I understood you to say that Enbridge had been quite influential in what the directors' order ultimately looked like; is that a fair statement?


MS. LAWLER:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Any redirect, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  No, thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The panel is excused.  Thank you very much.  Mr. Culbert, yeoman's service over the last couple of days.


[Laughter]


MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Chair, if I could just -- I don't know whether you want to address on the record the order for argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We were --


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, you were about to do that?  My apologies.  I just didn't want you to stand and have me sit you back.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the most efficient way of managing that is for the parties to discuss, to some extent, time frames for written argument in the case.  That's assuming that no one wants to make a strong pitch for oral argument.


MS. SEBALJ:  Can I throw out some dates, and just take two minutes for people to --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.


MS. SEBALJ:  -- see whether...  Argument-in-chief, February 3rd.  Submission of intervenors and Board Staff -  and Board Staff would be willing to provide their argument a day ahead, if necessary - on February 10th.  And reply on February 16th.  Does that sound at all --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could ask -- there are some undertakings.  Do we have an idea of when we'll see the undertakings?


MR. CLARK:  We'll make our best efforts to get everything out by tomorrow.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, wonderful.  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  The 10th is awkward for me, Mr. Chair.  I'm out of the country until the 12th, so I would ask for the 13th or even the 14th, if that's doable, for intervenors.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So 3rd, 14th is the -- is that your suggestion?


MS. SEBALJ:  Then it would be 20th or 21st, to be fair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we -- is the 3rd satisfactory for you, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  Yes, it is.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the 3rd; the 14th for intervenors, and your subsequent -- seven days from there is the 21st?


MS. SEBALJ:  Seven days is the 21st, yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Stevens?  It's a week after the last intervenor argument comes in.


MR. STEVENS:  I'm just looking at my calendar and trying to remember.  I think there is a holiday that falls in there.  I wonder if we might add it.


MR. SCHUCH:  Mr. Chair, Family Day holiday is February 20th.


MR. STEVENS:  I wonder if we might have until the 24th, rather than the 21st or 22nd.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's satisfactory, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the 24th, then?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  So that's the 3rd, 14th and 24th.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you for that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Well, that was quick and to the point.  Thank you very much.  The witness panel is excused, as I've indicated.  We now have a schedule for written argument, and the Board looks forward to them.


And I would like to thank everyone for their very able assistance in managing this.  Thanks very much.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:18 p.m. 
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